Portland State University

PDXScholar

University Honors Theses

University Honors College

6-16-2021

Reducing Stigma Associated with Growing Up Poor: How to Create a More Equitable Future for Working Class Adolescents

Jessica Goodpaster Portland State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://pdxscholar.library.pdx.edu/honorstheses



Part of the Social Psychology Commons

Let us know how access to this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Goodpaster, Jessica, "Reducing Stigma Associated with Growing Up Poor: How to Create a More Equitable Future for Working Class Adolescents" (2021). University Honors Theses. Paper 1065. https://doi.org/10.15760/honors.1091

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access. It has been accepted for inclusion in University Honors Theses by an authorized administrator of PDXScholar. Please contact us if we can make this document more accessible: pdxscholar@pdx.edu.

Reducing Stigma Associated with Growing Up Poor: How to Create A More Equitable Future for Working Class Adolescents

By

Jessica Goodpaster

An undergraduate thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Bachelor of Science

in

University Honors

and

Psychology

Thesis Advisor

Tessa Dover

Portland State University

2021

"Money and one of its embodiments, social class, are both riveting and mysterious to children. And if we don't challenge today's stigma around class status, it will warp a new generation's experience of an even more important class - the kind in which they learn. And that's one thing we simply can't afford."

- Alissa Quart (2017), The Guardian.

https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2017/jul/19/social-class-wealth-inequality-children-parenting

Table of Contents

Abstractv
1.0 Introduction and Research Question1
2.0 What is Stigma4
2.1 What factors cause stigma?
2.2 What are the harmful effects of stigma?9
2.3 Where does stigma take place?
2.4 How is L-SES defined?
2.5 How is class stigma a barrier to social mobility for low-income families?2
2.6 What impact does class stigma have on educational opportunities for low-income
adolescents?
2.7 How does class stigma impact the low-income adolescents' future prospects?2
3.0 The Nature of Low Socioeconomic Status (L-SES) in Adolescence25
3.1 How can the classification of L-SES be problematic?
3.2 Is there harm in social categorization by class?
3.3 What is "Poverty Culture"?
3.4 How does a lack of knowledge about "Poverty Culture" harm educational
development of low-income adolescents?
3.5 How does the social class divide contribute to an unequal access to resources?3
3.6 Is there evidence to support stereotyping associated with class stigma?34
3.7 How do L-SES and adolescents' socio-emotional development conflict?3
3.8 How does L-SES impact executive functioning?
3.9 Why is there a correlation between ACE scores and L-SES environments?39

3.10 What are the long-term effects of Adverse Childhood Experiences?41
3.11 What tactics are used by low-income adolescents for resilience?42
4.0 The Impact of Stigma Reduction
4.1 What does class stigma reduction look like?44
4.2 What is the foundation for acceptance and equity for low-income adolescents?46
4.3 How do we support their individual empowerment?
4.4 What institutional barriers prevent success in breaking the cycle of poverty?50
4.5 What are the strategies we can use to reduce public stigma?52
4.6 Do anti-stigma campaigns work for classism?54
4.7 What is Welfare Reform?55
4.8 How do social welfare programs help low-income adolescents' social
development?57
4.9 How do social welfare programs increase educational opportunities?59
4.10 How would redistributing governmental funds to social welfare programs increase
prosperity for low-income families?62
4.11 What could the creation of new social programs do for the working class?64
5.0 Summary of Findings and Conclusion67
5.1 Future Research68
References70

Abstract

I examine how stigma associated with socioeconomic status (SES), or social class, has the potential to negatively impact individuals during adolescence. Specifically, I focus on the impact of class stigma, and the institutional barriers faced by adolescents as they prepare for adulthood. These barriers and the stress felt due to both stigmatization, and environmental stimuli specifically pertaining to low-income neighborhoods/environments, can hinder or alter the development of the four major domains of development: physical, social, emotional and cognitive development. Stigmatization has resulted in physically and socially isolating lowincome communities from middle- or high-income communities, hindering social mobility for L-SES adolescents. Social class is not entirely based on meritocracy, but rather on social connections to the financially prosperous, and preventing L-SES individuals' access to social and cultural capital will help in perpetuating generational poverty cycles in low-income communities. I infer necessary radical reformation in the welfare system, and in public education on issues specifically pertaining to L-SES individuals. Doing so has the potential to change public opinion, redistribute wealth to those in need, and provide better futures to both L-SES adolescents and younger developing L-SES children. I hypothesize that the stigma of poverty is one of the driving forces behind the lack of resources for those in need, not one's "ability to achieve" in a meritocracy. It is important to give resources to working class adolescents to achieve equity, not just equality; this is the way to increase social mobility and break the cycle of poverty.

Introduction and Research Question

We live in an era where economic inequality has become increasingly stratified between the upper, middle, and working classes of the United States. This wage disparity is important to recognize, as the widespread stratification of income is indicative of the institutionalization of a class hierarchy (Massey, 2007; Waxman, 1977). Not only is this class hierarchy negatively impacting the quality of lives for workers and their families who depend on unlivable wages in the United States through poor standards of living and lower life expectancy (Zimmer et al., 2016), but additionally seems to be perpetuating a cycle of poverty for the next generation (Gitterman, 2009). Alongside this threat, the stigma associated with being in a low-income bracket is not only driven by the consequences of wage stagnation (a financial inability to provide vital resources for oneself and/or others), but seems to be associated with stigma (Gitterman, 2009).

Consistent with the idea of the "American Dream", meritocracy has become a dominant ideology through which many Americans conceptualize success (Waxman, 1977). A belief in a meritocratic social system is still alive in higher socioeconomic areas (H-SES), as they have the financial resources to better assist those attaining social mobility, but this is not the case for every community (Waxman, 1977). Unfortunately, this allows those who are not personally affected by poverty in America to not quite understand how prevalent this issue is. However, according to De France and Evans (2020), poverty is becoming increasingly prevalent, as approximately 1 in 4 children are born into poverty in the United States. This vulnerable population, in comparison to their H-SES peers, suffers from a lack of resources that would otherwise benefit their physical, cognitive, social and emotional development in preparation for emerging adulthood (De France & Evans, 2020).

The experience of coming to age in a lower socioeconomic status (L-SES) household influence various aspects of one's life, including the outlook of their forthcoming adulthood. These aspects may take form as a lack of access to nutritional food, clean water, adequate housing, quality schooling, proper healthcare, and/or ample opportunities within higher education or the workforce (Waxman, 1977). Continual inadequate access to these resources prior to and during adolescence is a profoundly important experience to recognize, as having access to these resources prior to emerging adulthood is a crucial aspect of both increasing social mobility and abruptly ending the cycle of poverty (Cooper, 2016).

The stratification of wealth is a symptom of social categorization and the stigmatizing of low-income communities (Massey, 2007; Goffman, 1963). This is because the exploitation of low-income individuals, as well as opportunity hoarding in regard to academic advancement and career development are reflections of social stigmatization that are connected to the narrative of a financial meritocracy in America (Massey, 2007; Waxman, 1977). Financial meritocracies teach of how financial success, specifically social mobility, is a promised reward for hard work (Waxman, 1977). If social mobility is not achieved, it is deemed to be because the individual is "lazy", or "expecting handouts" (Gitterman, 2009). This worldview is problematic for low-income communities, as social mobility is not simply based on hard work alone, but rather through social and financial connections with successful others (Waxman, 1977; Banerjee et al., 2006). Stigma reduction would involve challenging that narrative not only on a personal level, but up to the institutional level to create an equitable playing field that allows for values of meritocracy to be dissociated from socioeconomic status, or class.

I will be addressing these topics throughout my thesis by answering the question "How would reducing the stigma associated with low socioeconomic status promote equity for low-

income adolescents?" My intent is to answer this question by describing the nature of stigma, addressing how this specifically pertains to L-SES adolescents' development, and what can be done to reduce this stigma and its impact on L-SES adolescents.

What is Stigma?

Stigma is a group identifier accepted by the general public as being a negative attribute (Goffman, 1963). The word stigma originates from Ancient Greece and was in reference to a physical marker or bodily sign of someone's moral status; stigma was the marker that was burned or cut into one's body to identify someone as a slave, prisoner, or traitor (Goffman, 1963). These individuals were seen as "polluted" and should be avoided at all costs (Goffman, 1963). Although the qualifications of what is considered stigma has broadened over time and rarely includes the intentional, physical marking of an individual, this notion of moral pollution and avoiding individuals from stigmatized groups is still prevalent to this day.

The attribute(s) or group membership(s) deemed as being stigmatized can vary between social settings, however, stigma is seen overall as the reason for a relationship between attribute and stereotype, potentially leading to prejudice and discrimination. Stigma can be expressed in many forms, but is commonly expressed in the negative attitudes from those who are not stigmatized, and through their disregard of those in a stigmatized community. From here, those who stigmatize others will frequently use specific stigma-related terms and attribute several other undesirable traits to them that seemingly correlate with the initial stigmatized trait or group (Goffman, 1963). When the stigmatized individual or group becomes defensive toward this negative viewpoint of them, the stigmatizers respond by attributing this defensiveness as a direct expression of the initial stigmatized trait, making their argument sound obsolete (Goffman, 1963). This experience is known to be alienating and ostracizing, pushing the stigmatized individual to view themselves through the lens of failure, regardless of if this is a valid form of punishment.

A stigmatized trait in one's own cultural setting may not be stigmatized in another culture (Goffman, 1963). This is important to recognize, as an aspect of stigma is a lack of societal acceptance. The society one is a member of is responsible for establishing the categorization of traits deemed as honorable, acceptable, or immoral. This categorization of traits then becomes a demand from the public to meet their socially constructed expectations (Goffman, 1963). These expectations, however, are not always explicit, but can rather be a set of subconscious assumptions that one has about another individual or group and is deemed as being responsible for the discrediting of the stigmatized. Whether this stigma is based on physical appearance, the morality of one's actions, or due to belonging to another religion, country, or race, the stigma one faces has the power to override any or all other traits that were once deemed positive or endearing by their society's norms (Goffman, 1963).

General societal beliefs in the United States values capitalistic ideals, which although can be beneficial for those who achieve social mobility, can also be damaging to those who do not due to the ingrained beliefs of financial meritocracy (Waxman, 1977). Financial meritocracies are designed to reward those who have access to growing capital, meaning that those who are from low-socioeconomic backgrounds and do not have access to this same amount of capital as those from higher socioeconomic backgrounds will not be rewarded in this economic style (Waxman, 1977). Class stigma emerges from both this concept, and from the "American Dream" (Waxman, 1977). Because many who have settled in the United States have achieved enough social mobility to claim that they are in a better financial situation than they were when they arrived in America, there is a stigma around not being able to achieve this. Whether it was due to obstacles based on another type of stigma (race, ethnicity, religion, age, etc.), wage stagnation, or it was simply "bad luck", the majority population in the United States recognizes the notion that

those who are less fortunate are generally seen as "lazy", "expecting handouts", and/or "lack responsibility" (Gitterman, 2009). Although this is an overarching and erroneous conclusion, class stigma arises from it and is still pertinent to this day (Gitterman, 2009; Waxman, 1977).

Low Socioeconomic Status (L-SES) individuals' experience with stigma may be classified under Goffman's category, "blemishes of character". This is because those who are L-SES are deemed as "poor prospects" due to their inability to reciprocate financial means with the same ease as those of a higher socioeconomic status (Goffman, 1963; Kurzban & Leary, 2001). "Blemishes of character", or threats to "dyadic cooperation", have societal consequences of pity for an individual who is deemed a poor prospect, which in turn may become long-term avoidance (Kurzban & Leary, 2001). During adolescence, this experience becomes more prevalent, as identity exploration and social development with peers and mentors are some of the defining characteristics of this developmental period (McBride et al., 2011). This makes the effect of behavioral responses to stigma, such as the fear of ostracization, manifest in more acute fashion (McBride et al., 2011).

Adolescents are in a phase of development that positions them as young adults once they have finished high school. A portion of what adolescents are taught about adulthood is financial prosperity, and for those who come from low-income households, this is disproportionately unlikely to be their reality. This suggests that a major milestone being taught as the keystone of successful adulthood is largely unattainable for L-SES adolescents receiving this message (Dearing, 2008). Class stigma's tenacity assists in reiterating the message that if one is not successful, or ready to enter society in a way that will guarantee their success, that they are the ones who have failed, not the system (Banerjee, 2006). The weight of this narrative that is placed

on the shoulders of L-SES adolescents can negatively impact every domain of their development, whether it be physical, social, emotional, or cognitive (Dearing, 2008).

What Factors Cause Stigma?

There are a myriad of attributes that tend to be stigmatized, such as differentiating and labeling the variation within a population (Link & Phelan, 2001), or physical appearance (Jones, 1984), but factors that are associated with stigma are cultural beliefs labeling attributes as unfavorable, an "us vs. them" mentality, and the desire to gain or maintain power (Link & Phelan, 2001; Falk, 2014).

Because stigma is a social construct, cultural beliefs play a significant role in determining which attributes are deemed as worthy of stigmatization (Goffman, 1963). Although the variation in the human population would exist regardless of the presence of stigma, it is not until a negative connotation and following stereotypes are included that these variations are socially pertinent (Link & Phelan, 2001). This linkage of stereotypes to seemingly negative attributes becomes problematic when applied to groups, as the process of differentiation throughout the populace involves substantial oversimplification (Link & Phelan, 2001). The amount of variation between individuals makes an accurate grouping of an entire race, gender, religion, or culture virtually impossible. No individual from a given stigmatized group can be guaranteed to have the seemingly negative attribute at hand, so it is not only unjust to ascribe stereotypes to them without a broader understanding of the individual, but it would be a relatively arbitrary act to do so. However, each culture has their own set of morals, ethics and beliefs that dictate how their society categorizes groups, individuals, and their behaviors. With this, each culture has the power to determine what is seen as socially acceptable versus what is seen as immoral or

unfavorable (Goffman, 1963; Link & Phelan, 2001). If one deviates from their own culture, whether this deviation be from an ascribed trait or behavior they can ensure that stigmatization will ensue and that they will be subject to alienation (Goffman, 1963; Link & Phelan, 2001).

According to Heatherton (2003), stigma is a consequence of cognitive limitation, meaning that one's experiences and social information in regard to a certain attribute or group lacks in some way when a reliance on a stereotype becomes the primary basis of knowledge. Stereotyping and association between attributes and generalized groups of individuals is a natural cognitive process, as we cannot have extensive knowledge and experience with every topic we encounter. Although grouping and organizing new information in this way is a normal process of cognition, this can become precarious when used to separate groups of individuals through an "us vs. them" mentality. This mentality is responsible for dividing a group into a hierarchy, where those who are deemed as "others" are seen as having lesser value, and the group with seemingly greater value becomes the stigmatizers of "them" (Heatherton, 2003). This downward comparison that comes from the "us vs. them" mentality also brings with it the dehumanization of those being stigmatized (Link & Phelan, 2001). This may occur for a multitude of reasons, but some common reasons would be for the boost of the stigmatizers' own self-esteem, and to retain their dominant position in society (Link & Phelan, 2001; Heatherton, 2003).

The desire to gain or maintain power, whether it is through social, financial, or political means, is an indicator of stigmatization of another group (Falk, 2014). This is because a grasp at power over another group or individual reflects a cultural or societal divide (Falk, 2014). Power feuds in social settings occur when the minority party concludes that they are underrepresented and seek to gain the majority of power, while the majority party actively resists their cause through the utilization of more power (Falk, 2014). When this occurs, a common tactic used to

decrease and prevent power for the minority party is stereotyping, ridicule, and dehumanization by the majority party (Heatherton et al., 2000; Jacoby, 2005). An affixed trait is then designated to the minority party, which will be used to negatively describe them, regardless of accuracy, long after the power feud ceases (Jacoby, 2005). When access to power becomes more important than the representation or respect of those who are in less powerful positions, whether this dynamic occurs in a social, financial or political hierarchy, it has the potential to impact an individual for a lifetime, or a group for generations to come (Jacoby, 2005).

What each of these specific factors have in common is that each one suggests that stigma is essentially acting or existing outside of the social norm of the society one resides in. Whether or not the specific stigma is targeted toward ascribed traits such as race or sex, or if it targets actions such as criminal activity, stigma is the societal response to others being on the outside of what is deemed as acceptable and favorable (Goffman, 1963; Link & Phelan, 2001). All of the factors mentioned above are simply ways to portray this divide between the stigmatized and the stigmatizers.

What are the Harmful Effects of Stigma?

Although stigma is present in virtually every society, it is known to have a negative effect on development in every domain, whether it be physical, social, emotional, or cognitive (Flaherty et al., 2013; Hansen, 2014). Regardless of the stigmatized trait, being subject to stigmatization is associated with a surplus of harmful effects on developmental trajectories, some of which are Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) (Anda et al., 1999), changes in lifespan health trajectories (Zimmer et al., 2016), and altering the capacity for emotional regulation (De

France & Evans, 2020). I will be further explaining these effects by briefly addressing each of the previously mentioned domains of development.

Physical Development

The alteration of one's physical development due to the stress of experiencing stigma is the most outwardly apparent manifestation of resulting harm. These effects, however, take place gradually across the lifespan, making it more difficult to identify on a short-term basis, or as a preventative measure (Zimmer et al., 2016). The commonly noted harmful effects of stigma within the physical domain are shortened lifespan trajectories, and the long-term effects of ACEs on physical health (Zimmer et al., 2016; Su et al., 2015). According to Zimmer and colleagues (2016), group membership with a stigmatized group significantly correlates (p<.01) with premature death, varying as much as 17 years between the stigmatized group and majority groups' trajectory at 50% estimated survival probability. Those who were a part of a stigmatized group were also significantly more likely to develop comorbid conditions toward the end of life, such as congestive heart failure, chronic pulmonary disease, diabetes, and malignant tumors (Zimmer et al., 2016). These impacts on health were associated with the stress of enduring stigma, and the lack of social support that coincides with stigmatization. These effects are noted in ACE scores as well, as Adverse Childhood Experiences often coincide with being a part of a stigmatized minority group (Oregon Health Authority, 2013). The events that would impact one's ACE score are not directly caused by any specific type of stigma, but because there is known stigma surrounding situations such as substance abuse, and mental illnesses (both of which are addressed in the ACE questionnaire), this could impact whether help is sought out, while also potentially impacting the severity of one's ACE score (Oregon Health Authority, 2013). According to Gardner and colleagues (2019), an ACE score of 4/10 or more is

significantly associated with increased rates of obesity, diabetes, cancer, COPD, heart disease, and strokes in adulthood. Because experiencing stigma is a moderating factor to high ACE scores, this becomes significant in consideration to how stigma is maladaptive to physical development (Gardner et al., 2019).

Class stigma specifically impacts L-SES development through two factors: physiological responses to Adverse Childhood Experiences, and a lack of access to vital resources, such as high-quality food (Flaherty et al., 2013; Rasmussen et al., 2019; Gardner et al., 2019). According to Flaherty and colleagues (2013), young adults who had high ACE scores were more likely to take up risky health-related behaviors, such as substance abuse, physical inactivity, and smoking. However, the negative health effects of developing with Adverse Childhood Experiences can be felt as soon as early adolescence, regardless of the increased risk of impulsive behavior that impacts health across the lifespan. These effects often come in the form of unexplained nausea, headaches, skin problems, body aches, eye problems, and constipation, amongst others. Minors with high (4+) ACE scores were significantly more likely (p<.05) to have a chronically hyperactive HPA axis, and impaired prefrontal cortex functioning. However, it is important to note that efforts to reduce ACE scores from rising have a positive impact on health across the lifespan. Rasmussen and colleagues (2019) concluded that having a high ACE score is also associated with an increase in inflammation in adulthood, measured through higher levels of IL-6 and suPAR. These results are indicative of a hyperactive HPA axis, as these proteins are predominantly over-created under psychological stress. Gardner and colleagues (2019) concluded that obstacles preventing school children (K-12) from receiving quality food to nourish them throughout the school day negatively affected their physical development through the increased likelihood of obesity. The strongest association between obesity and psychosocial

factors in this study was through low family income; there was a significant difference in children's weight who had high ACE scores compared to those with low (fewer than 4) or no Adverse Childhood Experiences (Gardner et al., 2019). A mediating factor in this relationship was routine access to high quality food.

Social Development

Social development is impacted by class stigma through the environment that L-SES adolescents develop in. Because neighborhoods are typically divided by the cost of living or the cost of homes, and school zones are divided by neighborhood, adolescents are more likely to socially define themselves by these immediate environments (McBride et al., 2011). This is because adolescents' development is embedded in the context of their physical environment, among other factors, which will have an influence on their identity as they continue to develop. McBride and colleagues (2011) suggest that L-SES adolescents are more likely to have their identity exploration inhibited, which has a direct impact on immediate and future success, as they struggle to overcome stressors such as social stigma, limited opportunity in their economically disadvantaged. According to McBride and colleagues (2011), without identity exploration, adolescents will have to conclude that the societal expectations and social environment they have spent their lives in is imperative in defining who they are. This alone is not necessarily a negative trait, but when considering how the adolescent can internalize an L-SES environment as being foundational to one's identity, it can result in the feeling of being trapped in a cycle of generational poverty (McBride et al., 2011).

Stigma can affect the social domain of lifespan development through how one's particular stigma an individual experiences interact with the surrounding social environment.

This is the realm in which ostracism can be measured and interpreted based on the

public/outgroup view of an individual or group. According to Reutter and colleagues (2009), individual and group interviews with a stigmatized group of low-income individuals determined that the more exposure an individual had to negative stereotypes from the public eye, the more likely they were to attribute negative stereotypic traits to themselves. These stereotypes and the separation of this population from the "majority" Populus defined the social identity of the stigmatized group as their poverty, while also ensuring that they remain stigma conscious when around others who are not part of said group (Reutter et al., 2009). Stigma consciousness was deemed as harmful to their social development because each participant reported that they encounter new social situations already assuming a hierarchical power dynamic, in which they were seen as being inferior (Reutter et al., 2009). Although their personal identities negate these stereotypes, their place in society seems to always be informed by the stereotypes that others place on them. This leads to suffering in social relationships before the stigmatized individual is given the opportunity to interact with the majority populace (Reutter et al., 2009).

Emotional Development

Emotional development's interaction with class stigma follows the same general pattern as social development, as the two tend to coincide. L-SES adolescents emotionally connect with their peers and social identity to interpret the world around them. When an L-SES adolescent's social identity, and community is informed by the experience of poverty, emotional processing is informed by these experiences. Unfortunately, this can lead to maladaptive traits such as emotional dysregulation and lack of impulse control (De France & Evans, 2020; Holmes et al., 2019). De France and Evans (2020) determined through a longitudinal study that a lack of resources significantly increased risk-taking behavior and lower self-control behaviors in adolescents. The research specifically addressed reliance on disengagement use and

internalizing/externalizing symptoms rather than emotional regulation skills, which leads to an increased likelihood of developing anxiety and/or depression later in life. Low family income, unsafe neighborhoods, and underfunded schools were some of many factors that contributed to this result. Holmes and colleagues (2019) studied the links between environment stability, socioeconomic status, and risk-taking vs. self-control behaviors. Their results determined that children with increased homelife instability due to being of low-socioeconomic status (L-SES) were significantly more likely to indulge in risky behaviors such as truancy, antisocial behavior, and substance abuse; this would go hand-in-hand with lowered self-control behaviors, such as self-regulation. The conclusion of this study suggests that having a positive and stable home environment is important for the development of self-control (Holmes et al., 2019).

The emotional domain is informed by the developmental phase of the individual and can vary widely within and across the lifespan. There are numerous ways in which emotional development can be harmed by experiencing stigma, yet according to De France and Evans (2020), one of the primary impacts on this domain is a decrease in emotional regulation and the coping strategies that follow. Emotional regulation occurs through both automatic and conscious effort to reduce anger or anxiety with certain coping mechanisms that allow us to behave appropriately when distressed (De France & Evans, 2020). This process is controlled by the limbic system, but more specifically by the amygdala and hippocampus. Their responsibilities are to process short term or working memory, such as the current situation and environment (hippocampus) and to retrieve previous knowledge through emotional reactions to the environment (amygdala) (De France & Evans, Holmes et al., 2019). When one is facing the stress of stigmatization routinely, this emotional regulation process becomes clouded, as it allows for increased apprehension for social interactions (De France & Evans, 2020; Reutter et al.,

2009). Someone facing stigma is significantly more likely to approach situations and environments with the assumption that they will be stigmatized once spotted, while also recognizing that the emotional turmoil caused by this incident will inevitably be placed on their reputation, regardless of if the incident put them at fault (Reutter et al., 2009). Because of this, emotional regulation decreases, as the weight from the previous interactions are carried into the present. There is recognition that regardless of how consciously one manages their emotions, there will be blame for any wrongdoing, and the desire to prevent exhausting one's self-control is prioritized (Reutter, 2009; Holmes et al., 2019). Although this is a natural response to repeated stigmatization, this is harmful for emotional development, as this reaction can often lead to the excessive internalization or externalization of emotions. According to Fatima & Sheikh (2014), the conflicts that arise from the excessive internalization of emotions are an increased risk of developing depression and/or anxiety, and the conflicts that arise from the excessive externalization of emotions are increased risk of committing violent criminal acts, and increased aggression. Although facing stigma is not the fault of the individual facing it, the negative impacts of these interactions can determine how one interacts with the world and their rate of future success.

Cognitive Development

Cognitive development is impacted by class stigma through two factors; school climate and access to higher education in late adolescence and early adulthood (Stephens, 2014; Krywosa & Educational Resources Information Center, 2008). The structuring of public education highlights the ideal of independence, which has led to the structural disadvantage regarding access to education, equal political rights, employment, livable wages, and healthcare among others (Stephens, 2012). Children being raised in working class conditions not only have

the previously listed obstacles to overcome, but they are more likely to be raised to value resilience, interdependence, and obedience to authority over independence. This is reinforced in school, work, family, and community contexts. This is not because these are the value systems of working-class communities, this is because it is their survival methods. Krywosa and the Educational Resources Information Center (2008) reinforce this notion by studying the impact of providing resources to first-generation and low-income students, such as information about affordable college or job training options, FAFSA, college applications, and scholarship applications. Allowing this group of under-privileged students to find the resources necessary to attend college will help to overcome issues such as social mobility. However, if it is not recognized that working class college students experience attending college differently than middle class students do, providing financial resources for working class adolescents who want to pursue a higher education will be a disservice (Stephens et al., 2012). Stephens and colleagues (2012) concluded that cultural norms are not designed to include marginalized or poor students. Uncertainty about college choice, socio-cultural mismatch, and individualistic mindsets hinder the ability to traverse a traditional college experience. Having a lack of a safety net, both financially and culturally, further increases the likelihood of the inability to complete college. This study additionally determined that those who did not traditionally conform to the college experience were more likely to perform poorly academically.

The prevalence of internalizing symptoms, and decreasing emotional regulation becomes increasingly prevalent in L-SES adolescents, as the processing of their ever-changing environment utilizes much of the resources available, resulting in cognitive load (McBride et al., 2011). Emotional regulation is an asset of executive functioning, meaning that the performance of this task can be reflective of the individual's cognitive functioning and developmental stage

(Fuller-Rowell et al., 2015). According to De France & Evans (2020), emotional regulation can be altered in the face of stigma, as the stress of experiencing ostracization can lead one to becoming hypersensitive to stressful situations. When this occurs, the ability to self-soothe, perceive stress, and to utilize problem-solving skills are hindered by the hyperactivity of the limbic system (De France & Evans, 2020). This aspect of executive functioning being impeded upon impacts other reliant aspects of executive functioning, such as task persistence (Fuller-Rowell et al., 2015). Task persistence relies on a calm state of mind and previously enriched problem-solving skills to reach the end of any task successfully, but without fully equipped executive functioning skills, task completion will largely be unsuccessful (Fuller-Rowell et al., 2015). Ostracization due to stigma is also significantly associated with internalization of stressful events, which is a common side effect of both depression and anxiety (Fatima & Sheikh, 2014). When one internalizes events in their surroundings, such as stigmatization, this portrays itself through them attributing these actions to their individual nature, and blaming the interaction on themself, rather than recognizing that actions outside of themself are uncontrollable by them, and should not be connected to their self-worth (Fatima & Sheikh, 2014; De France & Evans, 2020). It is when the internalization of events driven by stigma occurs where self-stigmatization becomes potent (Reutter et al., 2009).

Where Does Stigma Take Place?

Stigma can potentially take place in any social interaction, as well as occurring internally. However, some of the most common places for stigma to occur are in public places, institutionally, and from self-stigmatization. Public places would include social interactions with peers, or in larger public gatherings. Institutional stigmatization often occurs occupationally, and

academically, but can occur in any hierarchical organization, such as religion. Self-stigmatization is the accumulation of stigmatizing experiences from public interactions and from institutions that leads one to believe that they are inherently bad or wrong based on the stigmatized trait(s) at hand (Reutter et al., 2009).

Stigmatization from others towards someone with an outwardly apparent stigmatized trait can, and often does, occur on a daily basis (Reutter et al., 2009). These interactions can range from micro-aggressions, a more passive-aggressive or subconscious reaction from the stigmatizer, to a physical discriminatory attack, such as a hate crime. There will undoubtedly be ranging reactions from the stigmatized individual based on the severity of the interaction, but there is also little doubt that the accumulation of stigma-based interactions will impact their daily life. Stigma from others in a public forum is frequently utilized through the indoctrination of institutionalized stigma that we experience on a day-to-day basis (Reutter et al., 2009). Because we as a society are used to seeing stigmatized individuals and groups disproportionately have less access to social esteem, and mobility, we are either aware of how few interactions we have with stigmatized individuals, or we are so unaware of their lack of space in important roles (such as an institutional lack of diversity in H-SES communities) that we do not think to look (Gitterman, 2009). The subsequent harboring of self-stigmatization for stigmatized individuals is partially due to this systemic response to lack of representation of stigmatized minority groups or individuals in any public or institutional setting (Reutter et al., 2009).

Self-stigmatization is one of the main byproducts of internalizing emotions regarding stigma-related interactions. When this occurs, often the individual will view themselves as being worthy of public and institutionalized stigma because they believe that the stigmatized trait(s) they possess truly does define them, despite all the evidence of the contrary (Reutter et al., 2009).

Although the stigmatized individual(s) are aware that these traits were either ascribed to them at birth, or "achieved" through certain behaviors or actions, this does not change the fact that they are routinely exposed to social, economic, and systemic barriers that remind them of their lower status societally (Foladare, 1969). This constant reminder can then become internalized and used as a foundation for one's own personal identity, even if this identity is crafted around these stereotypes in order to negate them (Reutter et al., 2009).

How is L-SES Defined?

Low socioeconomic status is defined through four distinct factors: wealth/net worth, poverty area, social class, and occupation (U.S. Census Bureau, 2010). Wealth and net worth are measured by comparing assets and liabilities through a debt-to-income ratio. The U.S. Census Bureau (2010) also uses this factor to measure whether the family units are homeowners, have vehicle(s), and whether their incomes reach or exceed \$50,000 annually. Poverty area is a broader measure, as it determines the percentage of community members in the neighborhood who are at or below the federal poverty threshold. An area or neighborhood with a 20% or higher poverty rate (1 in 5 experiencing poverty), is considered to be an impoverished area (U.S. Census Bureau, 2010). Social class is defined as the percentage of a family unit or neighborhood that are in working-class occupations. These occupational groups consist of, but are not limited to unemployment, unskilled manual labor, and skilled manual labor (Szreter, 1984).

Defining low socioeconomic status, however, is more nuanced than simply an occupation, a neighborhood, or a debt-to-income ratio. Socioeconomic status also must be defined by individual or family incomes, and how many people are reliant on said income.

According to the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services (2012), a family of four making

an annual income of \$46,100 are considered to be at 200% of the federal poverty level, while a single individual would only have to make \$22,340 to reach the same percentage. Because the official poverty measure on the federal level has not been adjusted to the cost of living since 1963, this is not the most reliable measure (U.S. Census Bureau, 2017). The supplemental poverty measure attempts to correct this by including the data for the cost of low-income housing in certain regions and adding noncash benefits such as Medicare, thus increasing the threshold for what is considered to be at the poverty level (U.S. Census Bureau, 2017). The U.S. Census Bureau (2017) does account for inflation, but it does not account for the rise in cost of living on top of inflation, and it does not account for a debt-to-income ratio. In order to correct this, I will be considering Low-Socioeconomic status as being at 200% of the federal poverty level throughout the remainder of this research.

Outside of income to needs ratios (ITN), there is one key factor the U.S. Census Bureau (2010) utilizes to define low socioeconomic status: education attainment. Although education attainment does not define socioeconomic status, the two tend to coincide (U.S. Census Bureau, 2010). Of the families that were considered to be at the federal poverty level or lower, approximately 73% of the respondents had no more than a high school diploma or equivalent certificate, with approximately 23% of the total respondents having less than a high school diploma (U.S. Census Bureau, 2010). In comparison, the percentage of the total national population with a bachelor's degree is approximately 35%.

None of the categories previously mentioned completely sum up the experience of being of low-socioeconomic status, however they do provide a uniform basis for reference. Throughout this section, I will be addressing the social and emotional factors that also leave an impact on the lives of those in low-income households.

How is Class Stigma a Barrier to Social Mobility for Low-Income Families?

Class stigma is a barrier to social mobility based on numerous factors, but some notable mentions are institutional or systemic barriers created by stigma, and a lack of ability to conceal this stigma (Reutter et al., 2009; Goffman, 1963). Because it is incredibly difficult to conceal low socioeconomic status by obtaining high price point, or "big ticket" items (cars, house, attire, etc.), or creating social and economic connections to mislead both the public and the institutions they exist in, it is highly unlikely that a low socioeconomic (L-SES) individual will be able to disguise their economic status successfully (Abramovitz, 2006). The lack of material possessions alone would not necessarily be an issue, as they can generally be considered as socioeconomic cues rather than vital for social mobility, but when accounting for what neighborhood one lives in, what type of education this allows individuals to access, and how the family income impacts the ability to meet basic needs, this can severely impact social mobility (Waxman, 1977, Reutter et al., 2009). This is because the socioeconomic level of expectation (SEL-E) that the individual has of themselves is increasingly lowered with each generation their family has been considered working class or below the federal poverty line, and the majority population distances themselves from generational poverty, as they negatively associate this experience with the family's work ethic or innate nature (Waxman, 1977). This distancing becomes more polarized as the majority population chooses to push low socioeconomic status households out of sight, meaning that the neighborhoods are increasingly pushed outside of desirable areas of a city or town, and is pushed further into the outskirts as development occurs (Waxman, 1977). This physical distance is representative of the cultural distance, which informs a "culture of poverty", where L-SES communities create cultural norms distinct from main society that does not stigmatize them, but also further isolates them from the main culture (Waxman 1977).

Disassociating with stigmatized views of your community is positive for many realms of development, but because it creates more observable differences between the two communities, it plays a role in the majority group driving a wedge between themselves and L-SES society (Waxman, 1977).

What Impact Does Class Stigma Have on Educational Opportunities for Low Income Adolescents?

Educational opportunities for tertiary education are designated to those who have shown success in moderately or significantly rigorous schooling in secondary school (Stephens, 2012). These rigorous programs take funding, resources, and a deep understanding of the student body at hand. Because property taxes are primarily utilized to pay for local public-school funding, low-income neighborhoods do not have the financial resources to provide many programs outside of those that are deemed as essential (Stephens, 2012). This means that programs such as advanced placement programs, dual enrollment, extracurricular activities, and elective class options are severely restricted in low-income areas due to cost (Stephens, 2012; Stephens, 2014). This is undoubtedly at no fault of the adolescent, but is rather a fault of an institution that allows for low-income neighborhoods and students to fall through the cracks and does not see L-SES communities as having equal value compared to H-SES communities.

The grit ideology theory and growth mindset are mediating factors regarding the effect of class stigma, as grit ideology studies the impact of perseverance as a protective factor, and the growth mindset is intended to teach school aged children (K-12) perseverance (Duckworth & Quinn, 2009). Duckworth and Quinn (2009) studied how the consistency of interest and effort throughout one's education can lead to "grit", or perseverance throughout difficult tasks. If L-

SES adolescents can establish and maintain a consistent level of perseverance through their academic journey, they will be able to have the means to overcome the adversity they face. This is not to say that success will be as simple for them as it would be for adolescents who have access to more financial and educational resources, but rather states that focusing on how to manage the obstacles at hand instead of believing their aptitude is less than will be beneficial for academic mobility (Duckworth & Quinn, 2009).

How Does Class Stigma Impact the Low-Income Adolescents' Future Prospects?

As mentioned previously, future prospects in emerging adulthood directly correlate with adolescent experience. When one is not able to access enriching and advanced education, the prospects for tertiary education, and vocational training are fewer. This is because of the obstacle of financial burden (Friedman et al., 2000; Krywosa & Educational Resources Information Center, 2008). Friedman and colleagues (2000) concluded that with a significant portion of welfare recipients not having access to a job market that pays a living wage, providing job training, GED tutoring, post-secondary education, and access to affordable childcare could significantly reduce the amount of families that need to rely on programs such as TANF. By using examples of successful job training from companies, counties, and states, it is apparent that simply providing resources to low-income families will increase social mobility. Increasing public support for these programs by actively reducing the stigma associated with social welfare programs have a direct impact on the funds provided to social programs, and the amount of L-SES adolescents who have access to these resources as well (Jarrett, 1996). Although these issues do present as exclusively class-related, the stigma associated with class correlates with the low public support of taxpayers to provide financial support to low-income individuals directly

impacts the success rates of these programs, and therefore, the accessibility of jobs training programs, or educational support (Zhiyong, 2010; Friedman et al., 2000). Until or unless affordable access to job training programs are available to all L-SES adolescents to choose from, their future prospects are more likely to diminish.

The Nature of Low Socioeconomic Status (L-SES) in Adolescence

In brief, the nature of Low-Socioeconomic Status during adolescence is a lack of resources and facing undue stigma (Gitterman, 2009; Jones et al., 1984). The impact of lacking these resources can manifest in every major domain of development (Anda et al., 1999; McBride et al., 2011; Holmes et al., 2019; Stephens, 2014). For instance, an indirect factor, such as Adverse Childhood Experiences, are known to have lifelong effects (Flaherty et al., 2013). Although resilience, social support, and providing some lacking resources during adolescence are acknowledged as being significant protective factors, L-SES adolescents still face many obstacles, both financial and cultural, that those of higher socioeconomic statuses (H-SES) will not have to overcome (De France & Evans, 2020; Duckworth & Quinn, 2009).

During this segment of my thesis, I will be addressing the specific environments associated with low-socioeconomic status, how this experience can affect this stage of development, as well as the following stage of early adulthood, and how to utilize protective factors and resilience to prevent further harm.

How Can the Classification of L-SES be Problematic?

Low-socioeconomic status classification was originally measured federally based on the cost of living in 1963, and adjusted annually for inflation since, however it has not addressed the rising cost of living across the nation (U.S. Census Bureau, 2010). None of the formulas used to define economic status address that in 95% of the United States, a full-time minimum wage employee cannot afford a two-bedroom apartment (Aurand et al., 2020). Continual wage stagnation and a lack of an increase in the federal minimum wage since 2009 means that young

adults today are more likely to be poorer than previous generations at the same age (Gitterman, 2009).

This affects adolescents who are preparing to enter the workforce or continue their education, as the financial prospects are not set up for their success. The way that class identification is defined by the federal government, whose responsibility it is to provide financial assistance to upcoming college students via FAFSA, does not recognize the negative impact on financial stratification (Krywosa and the Educational Resources Information Center, 2008). Relying on antiquated data that focuses on family income rather than the individual's income, their income to debt ratio, or income to needs (ITN) ratio plays a significant role in the national student debt crisis (Gitterman et al., 2009). As social service programs rely on the same data set, it can also be said that debt and financial barriers faced by L-SES individuals can also be significantly impacted by arbitrary income marks (Jarrett, 1996). According to Jarret (1996), who interviewed mothers receiving welfare benefits, many of the participants in his survey claimed having to refuse a raise of \$2/hr. or less in order to maintain their housing, medical, and food benefits. If an addition of \$2/hr. before taxes can make the difference between having housing, Medicare, and access to high quality food at an accessible price, or losing each of these benefits entirely, the data set that is relied on to make these decisions requires upkeep.

Is There Harm in Social Categorization by Class?

According to Kraus and colleagues (2012), a majority of United States citizens assume that social class is not an important factor, or even claim it to be "superficial". Nonetheless, socioeconomic status determines one's social class, which is a central context that determines one's relationships, access to connections, and defines how one exists in social spaces (Kraus et al., 2012). Because socioeconomic status and social class are deeply intertwined, it is difficult to

discern between the two. However, socioeconomic status is predominantly concerned with the financial aspect of class, while social class focuses on social and cultural impacts that socioeconomic status has on entire communities (Stephens, 2012; Waxman, 1977). According to Kraus and colleagues (2012) social categorization is a fundamental human experience, as we make social schemas through which we explore our environment, and these categorizations can be harmful to those who are seen as being on the bottom of the "social ladder". Through this concept defined by Kraus and colleagues (2012), there are two aspects that moderate the harmful impact of social categorization on L-SES individuals: material resources, and social orientation.

Material resources can range widely between access to high quality foods and clean water to home ownership, but emphasize occupation and educational attainment. Social orientation is the outcome variable that creates a divide between low and high socioeconomic status individuals. Those who are considered to be H-SES exude "solipsism", which is defined as perceiving the world from an individualistic perspective, and being motivated by internal sources (Anderson et al., 2012). As their basic needs are met and they have little to no worry surrounding financial stability, they are able to freely venture out and expand their life in a form of their own choosing. For L-SES individuals however, they are considered to be contextualists (Anderson et al., 2012). This means that they view their surroundings through an external lens, as they are compelled to navigate their environment with extreme constraint and fear of whether or not they can meet their basic needs. Financial limitations also affect their social interactions, as L-SES individuals are more likely to form close bonds within their communities, as they rely on each other for survival, while H-SES individuals do not require this type of community reliance to get by (Anderson et al., 2012). Because L-SES individuals do not have the same luxury to explore with freedom and choice, they are not able to pursue the same goals at the same rate. Obstacles

that are placed before low-income individuals against their will tend to position them further behind their H-SES counterparts, while simultaneously making it more difficult to achieve the same rate or speed of progress.

As economic inequality has been on the rise in the past decade, social class signaling has steadily increased as well (Connor et al., 2021). Signaling alone is not necessarily harmful, but Connor and colleagues (2021) suggested that with an increase in signaling within a significant class divide comes class stereotyping, which suggests that those considered poor are warmhearted, but not competent enough to create and grow their wealth. The stereotyping of a lack of competence is inherently harmful to L-SES individuals, as this narrative perpetuates and justifies an unjust cycle of poverty. Although this stereotype is harmful for any low-income individual who faces it, it is especially harmful for adolescents, as they are faced with choosing to enter the workforce or continue their education. If an L-SES adolescent is told that they are not bright enough to succeed in a university setting, they are going to be less likely to be inclined to try, thus furthering the cycle of poverty through at least maintaining, if not lowering educational attainment expectations.

The stereotyping of L-SES individuals as being incompetent and unable to grow their own wealth is explained further by Kraus and colleagues (2015), as they suggest that individuals across all demographics, except those in low-income brackets, in the United States significantly overestimate social class mobility. This study suggests that our society both overestimates the ease at which one can gain and grow wealth or capital, especially for social mobility in L-SES settings, and underestimates the effort and obstacles at which one can break the cycle of poverty and enter the middle or upper classes. For those from low-income communities, they tend to

relatively accurately guess their level of social mobility, as they tend to internalize their Socioeconomic Level of Expectation (SEL-E) (Kraus et al., 2015; Waxman, 1977).

Kraus and Keltner (2013) explain that this lack of understanding regarding social mobility is partially due to the culture of a meritocracy, but mostly due to system justification theory, which creates dissonance between L-SES social mobility and financial success. They suggest this is because people tend to falsely attribute biological bases for socioeconomic status, claiming that the stereotype of L-SES individuals being less intelligent is based on genetics, and/or brain composition, rather than recognizing that if this stereotype holds any merit that it might be explained by a lack of educational resources to low-income communities and is unrelated to biological differences in intelligence abilities.

What is "Poverty Culture"?

According to Waxman (1977), "poverty culture" is defined as a minority subculture of individuals who are perceived as developing unique value systems that does not rely on the access to, or amount of, financial resources. This change in the value system allows "poverty culture" to therefore rely on their own communities for shared resources and create an honor system in place of a class system to rank those within their communities. The "American Dream" teaches that anyone can rise through the ranks with enough time and effort, as it is based on a "meritocracy", but fails to recognize that it takes wealth and capital to grow wealth (Waxman, 1977). "Poverty culture" understands this concept, and rather than focusing on that, low-income communities choose to value others through their honor systems. As the likelihood of the wealthy providing resources to the poor is at best improbable, those in low-income communities tend to isolate and be isolated from the majority population (Waxman, 1977; Kraus et al., 2015).

Stephens and colleagues (2012) suggest that this is partially because a majority of L-SES individuals are born into financial hardship, and therefore rely on not only limited financial resources within the community, but also on the limited educational resource available to them. "Poverty culture", or customs of L-SES communities, is not informed in many teaching styles, meaning that the contextualist mindset adopted by these communities are not prioritized or understood in the classroom (Anderson et al., 2012; Stephens, 2012). Teachers in low-income communities are usually coming in from outside communities to teach at Title One schools, and do not recognize that the reasons these students fall behind academically are because of a lack of basic needs being met, teaching styles being based on individualistic perspectives, and a lack of funding for extracurricular programs that encourage further academic prioritization and achievement (Kraus et al., 2012; Stephens, 2012; Stephens, 2014).

Because L-SES individuals rely on their community for financial, social, and emotional needs, Kraus and colleagues (2010) suggest that "poverty culture" involves a higher likelihood of empathetic accuracy. Their study with 200 participants found that L-SES individuals with a high school diploma or equivalent had higher empathetic accuracy than their H-SES counterparts and their more educated peers. This is suggested to be the case because L-SES individuals are more likely to display their emotional state in an ambiguous way, making it more difficult for individuals who are not of low socioeconomic status to determine or code the emotion being expressed (Kraus et al., 2010). It is also stated that L-SES individuals do not simply rely on the emotional expression alone, but rather the social context the emotion is occurring in, as low-income communities rely on contextual perspectives to perceive their surroundings through. Collectivist perspectives are central to "poverty culture", as the individual's limited resources are

often combined with their communities to create the best possible environment for themselves and others.

How Does a Lack of Knowledge About "Poverty Culture" Harm Educational Development of Low-Income Adolescents?

A lack of understanding that low-income communities are more collectivistic, and that the adolescents of the community often have to financially provide for their families while simultaneously attempting to balance school requirements and expectations can be harmful for educational development through cultural mismatch, and inability for adolescents to perceive themselves as successful college students (Stephens, 2012).

Cultural mismatch theory explains how L-SES adolescents are taught values of individualism and to expect certain aspects of identity exploration in early adulthood involving going to college, neither of which are accessible to working class families (Stephens, 2012; Krywosa & Educational Resources Information Center, 2008). Low-income communities rely on each other for social, familial, and financial support because without this community reliance, nearly everyone within the community would be significantly lacking a vital resource. Unlike with higher income neighborhoods, resources such as caregiving support, or reliable transportation involve a financial burden at best, but often are unattainable resources. Many teachers who are employed at Title One schools do not always seem to understand the impact of a lack of vital resources on their students before they step foot in the classroom (Stephens, 2012). Teaching on a basis of individualism and identity exploration to a room of students who do not know where their next meal is coming from is going to be unsuccessful in regard to academic motivation. These principles assume that the basic needs of the adolescent are routinely met, and

they have a secure base that they can explore from, while also assuming that community reliance and resilience are not a foundational aspect of their identities (Stephens, 2014).

The stereotype that L-SES adolescents are less likely to succeed academically can also be attributed to "poverty culture", as this stereotype plays a role in educational attainment trends in low-income neighborhoods. "Poverty culture" is also the perpetuating cycle of poverty, being reinforced by a lack of educational access. Even if an L-SES adolescent is able to attend college, they are more likely to be told that they will not succeed and that they should try to follow in the footsteps of their family members or community leaders (Krywosa & Educational Resources Information Center, 2008). Managing a perceived, or real, lack of support from your community is likely to hinder educational success, opportunity, and motivation toward completion (Stephens, 2012; Stephens, 2014).

How Does the Social Class Divide Contribute to an Unequal Access to Resources?

The physical divide of social classes in our neighborhoods and public-school systems have brought forth complications in regard to unequal distribution of resources among all public schools: school funding by property taxes leads to financial disparities and disproportionately less programs for schools in low-income communities, and the lack of training in low-income schools on how to teach in a trauma-informed way (Stephens, 2012; Stephens, 2014). Lacking vital resources in every aspect of one's life is compelled to be traumatic for low-income adolescents, and public schools should accommodate these students by addressing the crisis at hand.

School funding distribution has been a poignant topic of issue for decades, but with the impact COVID-19 has had on the public education system, these issues have been brought to life

and elevated for those who rely on schools for childcare, feeding their children, and for providing the highest quality education possible (Frontline PBS, 2020). Because low-income neighborhoods are less likely to have a stay-at-home parent to aid with schooling, less likely to be able to afford breakfast, lunch, supplies, and quality computers with broadband access for each student, schooling in crisis has been practically impossible for low-income communities. This is going to have a significant impact on any K-12 students, but especially for adolescents who are utilizing this period of their education to prepare themselves for either a career after high school or higher education. Underfunded schools before COVID did not have the means to maintain infrastructure, and provide the resources children need to learn effectively because of the system where property taxes are the primary source of income for each individual campus. This leads to many students having to go without a quality education, extracurricular activities, arts and physical education (as these are the first programs to be cut when funding is scarce), and potentially food for the day (Stephens, 2012; Stephens, 2014).

Trauma informed teaching is intended to attempt a bridge over these obstacles by providing a classroom environment that allows students to feel heard, seen, and understood. Because many teaching credential programs lack the curriculum to teach upcoming educators about the difference in culture between "mainstream" middle-class campuses and low-income campuses, new teachers are woefully unprepared to enter these classrooms and inspire students to learn (Stephens, 2014). According to Kraus and colleagues (2010), L-SES adolescents value collectivism and tend to view interactions with their environment through social context, rather than as an incident independent of the environment surrounding it. This is less likely to be the case for those who have adopted an individualist perspective, as they are more likely to see social interactions as independent events. Stephens (2012) claims that because these educators

have become accustomed to the culture of higher education, they have been surrounded by the influence of individualism, and tend to adopt this influence into their lesson plans and outreach programs for students. Although the intention to allow students to be more involved in their education as independent individuals itself is a positive standpoint to have for high school education, not understanding how low-income communities are vastly interconnected compared to middle-class communities will inevitably lead to low motivation and inspiration, as well as L-SES adolescents believing that they are incompetent academically (Stephens, 2014).

Is There Evidence to Support Stereotyping Associated with Class Stigma?

In short, evidence-based reasoning to support the stereotypes of laziness and poorer potential due to biological factors simply are not there (Kraus & Keltner, 2013). There is, however, evidence to support that experiencing stigma is associated with increased ability toward resilience (Shih, 2004), and increased empathy towards others (Kraus et al., 2010). According to Shih (2004), stigma is seen as a "constant stressor" that can cause detrimental effects, but some individuals can live with stigmatized identities with relative success. Only half of children in disadvantaged living conditions develop to experience symptoms of antisocial behavior, delinquency, and/or mental illness(es) (Shih, 2004). She determined that resiliency was a positive factor that developed as a result of stigmatization for the approximately 50% of disadvantaged children who develop to become successful adults. The provided benefits of resiliency are listed as being (but not limited to) social compensation, increased attunement toward their social environment, development of a multi-faceted identity, and a form of coping that relied on empowerment rather than focusing on more passive coping mechanisms.

Garmezy (1991) suggested that factors such as social, emotional, and/academic intelligence were protective factors from stigmatization, and foundational factors of resilience for adolescents. Intelligence in disadvantaged adolescents allowed for them to develop competence in coping skill mechanisms and the ability to actively adjust their trajectory into adulthood through empowerment. Stellar and colleagues (2012) expand upon this by noting that another protective factor towards resilience is compassion. This is because of reliance on social environmental cues to compensate for social class stigma (Shih, 2004; Stellar et al., 2012). Utilizing the Dispositional Positive Emotion Scale (DPES), Stellar and colleagues (2012) were able to determine that those classified as being low socioeconomic status answered the questionnaire with more compassion and empathy than those of higher social status ($\alpha = .92$). Côté and colleagues (2011) elaborate on an increase in empathetic responses from L-SES adolescents, and increased attunement to social cues by determining that L-SES adolescents display more empathetic accuracy than those of higher status. It appears that those in higherpower positions, particularly being a member of a majority, non-stigmatized group, does not require empathetic accuracy and attunement to social cues at the rate that those in lower-power positions would need to compensate for their stigmatization (Côté et al., 2011). This is partially supported by the collectivist perspective proposed by Stephens (2012), as communal identity was one of the key moderating factors of the relationship between empathic accuracy and social class.

How do L-SES and Adolescents' Socio-Emotional Development Conflict?

The context of low socioeconomic status environments conflict with adolescent development in many ways, however there are two factors that significantly affect development:

emotional regulation (De France & Evans, 2020; Fatima and Sheikh, 2014), and impulse control (Fuller-Rowell et al., 2015).

De France and Evans (2020) studied the impact of socioeconomic status (SES) on adolescents' usage of emotional regulation strategies. The research points addressed are reliance on disengagement rather than emotional regulation skills leads to mental health problems later in life. Disengagement was hypothesized by previous studies to potentially be moderated by SES, but was not studied specifically. This longitudinal study took place across the span of nine years, utilizing questionnaires, and self-report checklists. There were 341 thirteen-year-olds from lowincome families living in rural counties. By the time the study was completed, they were 24 years old. De France and Evans used a self-report to measure internalizing/externalizing symptoms, as well as disengagement, and U.S. Census Bureau data to determine the SES and Income-To-Needs (ITN) ratio of each participant. The findings determined a significant relationship (p<.05) between disengagement use and internalizing/externalizing symptoms that was significantly moderated by SES. During measurement 1 (13 years) and measurement 2 (17 years), the L-SES participants were more likely to show externalizing symptoms, but during measurement 3 (24 years), the L-SES participants were more likely to show internalizing symptoms. These findings reiterate the necessity of recognizing that the context of low-income communities, class stigma and adolescent development do not occur in vacuums, but can rather inform each other in damaging ways during crucial phases of cognitive development.

Fuller-Rowell and colleagues (2015) studied the effect of childhood poverty on household chaos, specifically focusing on how this alters an adolescent's ability for task persistence and perseverance. The research questions addressed to answer this was: Do childhood poverty and community violence exposure alter an adolescent's ability toward task

persistence and perseverance? This study was conducted partially because there seems to be an overemphasis on intelligence when studying L-SES adolescents, but limited research on skills such as perseverance and task persistence, as well as there being little research on the potential chaotic environment that L-SES adolescents live in. This is important to study because household chaos and community violence exposure could have a significant effect on development. This study had 256 participants, with an average age of 17.5 years. Half of the participants have a family Income-To-Needs (ITN) ratio that would put them at or below the federal poverty level. The researchers' design was a prospective longitudinal design, utilizing interviews, and a performance task to determine task persistence as forms of data collection. The data collection methods were mixed, with qualitative methods such as open-ended at-home interviews, and puzzle solving to determine task persistence, and quantitative methods such as family income ratio, and questionnaires for household chaos level. The findings determined that there was an association between childhood poverty, household chaos, and lack of task persistence ability that increased with exposure to these experiences. According to Fuller-Rowell and colleagues (2015), the strongest relationship in their study was between childhood poverty and a lack of task persistence. However, the implications addressed that these findings indicate that more than household chaos, SES and community violence exposure are the strongest indicators of whether or not adolescents are able to complete daily activities needed to be successful in adulthood.

How does L-SES Impact Executive Functioning?

Fatima and Sheikh (2014) studied the effect of socioeconomic status (SES) on executive functioning, and adolescent aggression. The research points addressed were how previous studies have determined childhood poverty to be associated with juvenile delinquency and criminal

activity, but there is limited research associating this type of adolescent aggression in L-SES teens with cognitive development. This cross-sectional study utilizes executive functioning performance tests, questionnaires, and census data for their information. The participants are Pakistani adolescents who range in age from 13 to 19 years. Information from open-ended questions about family income, occupation, and education level were utilized in this study. National census data determined one's socioeconomic status. Likert-Scale 5-point questionnaire was used for aggression scales. A nine-part performance exam determined overall executive functioning. Findings revealed that correlation between SES, executive functioning, and adolescent aggression was significant. On average, the lower an adolescent's SES was, the lower their executive functioning was and the higher their level of aggressive behavior was. This indicates executive functioning and aggression are connected through emotional regulation, and when one is of low-socioeconomic status, it acts as a moderator of development. This is likely caused by the stress of living in a L-SES environment and experiencing class stigma, but because this is a cross-sectional study, a causal relationship or direction cannot be confirmed.

Holmes and colleagues (2019) studied structures of the brain impacted by L-SES, and its impact on emotional regulation through self-control and risk taking. Because the amygdala, hippocampus, and cerebral cortex have all either shrunk or thinned, the behaviors of self-control tend to lower, while risk taking tends to increase (De France & Evans, 2020; Holmes et al., 2019). Self-control is defined as "the volitional act of managing attention and arousal in a manner that facilitates goal-directed behavior", while risk taking behaviors are listed as acts of "increased crime, delinquency, truancy, substance use, risky sexual behaviors, and antisocial behaviors" (Holmes et al., 2019). This study was a longitudinal study consisting of 1083 members, and to determine SES status, an income to needs (ITN) ratio was taken, showing that approximately 24% of the children were determined as poor (ITN ratio < 2) (Holmes et al., 2019). While calculating for the controls of the

study, the participants and their parents were given questionnaires to determine the level of self-control and risk-taking behavior they exhibit, then during the second visit of the longitudinal study (first visit age= 8.5-11.5, second visit age= 15), they were given those same questionnaires (Holmes et al., 2019). It was determined that there was a negative correlational relationship between high-risk behaviors and low self-control behaviors, with L-SES environments as a moderator ($\alpha = 0.81-0.86$) (Holmes et al., 2019). The findings within this study suggests that this relationship could also partially be a result of the structure of the home and neighborhood that one lives in (described in short as "household chaos") as well as the overall, disadvantageous nature of living in poverty (Holmes et al., 2019).

Why Is There a Correlation Between ACE Scores and L-SES Environments?

Adverse Childhood Experiences overlap significantly with L-SES environments through their associations with poor environmental resources (Su et al., 2015; Flaherty et al., 2013). According to Lacey and colleagues (2020), poverty is correlated with both individual ACEs and cluster ACEs. Cluster ACEs are ACEs that tend to co-occur, as 81% of the participants who have at least one ACE would have at least one other. The Latent Class Analysis (LCA) identified clusters in certain individuals to compare with others reporting the same ACEs. The results from this LCA determined that ACEs are socioeconomically patterned, and poverty was correlated with an increased chance of experiencing every ACE, being qualified as a "poly adversity" cluster. Financial strain on the family system increases the chance of parental conflict, violence, and separation. The impact was felt by the children especially if poverty affected the mother while she was pregnant with them.

Physiological reactions to stress in L-SES environments is a moderating factor for ACE scores, as exposure to long-term stress increases the likelihood of a hyperactive HPA Axis (Su et

al., 2015). According to Flaherty and colleagues (2013), the negative health effects of developing with adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) can be felt as soon as early adolescence. These effects would often come in the form of unexplained nausea, headaches, skin problems, body aches, eye problems, and constipation, among others. Children exposed to violence were likely to have a chronically hyperactive HPA axis, impaired prefrontal cortex functioning, and epigenetic responses through gene modification caused by exposure to violence. Rasmussen and colleagues (2019) expand upon these findings by measuring the levels of C-reactive protein (CRP) and interleukin (IL-6) in the blood. It was determined that children exposed to more ACE had higher levels of IL-6 and suPAR. The increase in suPAR was associated with cumulative exposure to adverse childhood experiences, with low socioeconomic status being positively correlated with suPAR levels.

The socioemotional context of L-SES environments has an impact on adolescent's ACE scores, as Holmes and colleagues (2019) have determined that there is a significant link between environment stability, socioeconomic status, and risk-taking vs. self-control behaviors. The results determined that children with increased homelife stability due to being of low-socioeconomic status (L-SES) were significantly more likely to indulge in risky behaviors such as truancy, antisocial behavior, and substance abuse; this would go hand-in-hand with lowered self-control behaviors, such as self-regulation. The relationship between decreased impulse control and an ACE score of 4 or more is seen through actions such as smoking initiation (Anda et al., 1999). According to Anda and colleagues (1999), the mean age of smoking initiation for someone with an ACE score of 0 was 20.9 years, while with an ACE score of 4 or more, smoking initiation began at 17.3 years of age. The suggestion is that the nicotine found in cigarettes is used as a coping mechanism for those with high ACE scores.

What are the Long-Term Effects of Adverse Childhood Experiences?

One of the long-term impacts on L-SES adolescents with high ACE scores is the increased tendency toward unhealthy coping mechanisms (Anda et al., 1999; Oregon Health Authority, 2013). Anda and colleagues (1999) concluded that having exposure to one adverse childhood experience not only increased the odds of being exposed to other adverse childhood experiences (85% chance for a second ACE, and 70% chance for a third), but it also increased the likelihood of habitual smoking of tobacco. It is apparent that tobacco usage is dangerous for long term health, as some of the most common illnesses that occurred in those with an ACE score of 4 or more were suicidal thoughts, depression, and chronic bronchitis or emphysema (Oregon Health Authority, 2013).

Health trajectory of those with high ACE scores, therefore, is shortened in comparison to those with low or not ACE scores. This is related both to unhealthy coping mechanisms, and with the interaction of prolonged stress that L-SES environments unfortunately tend to provide. According to Zimmer and colleagues (2016), H-SES children were less likely to have high morbidity and mortality rates throughout their life (adulthood and well into old-age), compared to their L-SES counterparts. This study also determined that social mobility could reverse some of the effects of childhood poverty, while also determining that going into poverty could reverse some of the effects of higher SES in childhood. With participants ranging in age from 66 to 105, this study was able to measure and account for the confounding effects of childhood, early and middle adulthood. Some of the reasons for SES being associated with later in life health is a lack of quality resources throughout life, and a lack of understanding how to navigate the healthcare system. Su and colleagues (2015) determined through a 23-year longitudinal study that people who grew up in poverty and were exposed to adverse childhood experiences (ACE) were more

likely to have high blood pressure in adulthood. This was measured by following people of varying family incomes and demographics through a longitudinal study for 23 years. Those with an ACE score of 4 or more were significantly more likely to experience not only high blood pressure, but also other physical and psychological problems such as mental illness, obesity, and increased likelihood for developing cardiovascular disease. This is because the HPA Axis in those experiencing stress from both poverty and their adverse childhood experiences are more hyperactive, and continue to be hyperactive well into adulthood.

What Tactics are Used by Low Income Adolescents for Resilience?

Perseverance is a significant predictor of overcoming adversity, as it is beneficial for developing a growth mindset for both academic and socioemotional contexts (Duckworth & Quinn, 2009). Duckworth and Quinn (2009) studied how a grit ideology would encourage adolescents to remain consistent and engage with their academic work, allowing them the opportunity to succeed in the face of adversity. Growth mindset is foundational in this model, as it teaches L-SES adolescents that failure is not only inevitable, but an opportunity to learn and grow (Duckworth & Quinn, 2009). The way this is adopted into the classroom and internalized is through encouragement from their teachers and peers, as well as the reinforcement of a positive outcome. Although grit ideology can often be misinterpreted as reinforcing the meritocracy that stigmatizes them, in practice, grit ideology combined with a growth mindset is created on the knowledge of a structural ideology that recognizes the obstacles that classism has placed before them (Duckworth & Quinn, 2009; Gorski, 2016).

The Impact of Stigma Reduction

Stigma has an overreaching effect on the groups and individuals who experience it, as it holds the capacity to impact every aspect of one's development and the ability to change one's self-concept (Goffman, 1963; Reutter et al., 2009; De France & Evans, 2020). Because of this, most individuals' moral compass will not allow them to hold illegitimate biases against outgroups (Jost & Banaji, 1994). People have an inherent need to be good and moral, and stigma reduction is the ideal way to counteract any negative attitudes or beliefs about any one group (Fein & Spencer, 1997). However, the predominant response is to carry biases implicitly and outwardly show support (Crandall & Eshelman, 2003). Challenging one's bias and taking deep accountability for one's actions and beliefs can be troublesome, meaning that authentic stigma reduction is the most difficult route for changing one's worldviews. However, there are two primary behaviors being studied that can aid in the reduction of stigma: outgroup perspective taking (Chung et al., 2013) and psychological help seeking attitudes (Keum et al., 2018). These practices allow for an individual holding prejudice, or believing in certain stereotypes, to experience empathy and to acknowledge that desiring a professional support system is not an admittance of failure.

Chung and colleagues (2013) studied how perspective taking and social identity theory combine when participants were asked to relate to a perspective of someone with a highly stigmatized identity. For instance, participants were asked to compare the similarity in their understanding of events to the target person, and if they understood the reasons for her actions. This helped to create an environment of empathy between the participants and the stigmatized target person through this social exercise. Although the less stigmatized target person (the "single mother") was more likely to have created an empathetic environment than the more

heavily stigmatized target person (the "recovering drug addict"), there was a significant reduction in prejudice beliefs for both groups (p < .05).

Keum and colleagues (2018), however, studied the impact of stigma reduction through self-stigmatization felt by their participants. In this study, participants predominantly held a negative association toward those who seek psychological help and a self-stigma toward personally seeking this type of help (α =.84). After enrolling in a college course that taught the importance of helping skills in therapeutic relationships, the participants trended toward openness to the concept of therapy and were able to create a deeper understanding of the benefits. Through education, these individuals were able to reduce their self-stigma associated with seeking help, while also conquering their fear of what others would think of them being in therapy. This benefitted the participants through the creation of an open and accepting environment that supported their growth, and did not further stigmatize them in regard to their help seeking behaviors. Changing out behaviors as a society by creating environments such as this in a "real world" setting would be beneficial for any and all marginalized individuals or groups.

What Does Class Stigma Reduction Look Like?

Utilizing strategies such as public education on matters affecting L-SES communities (Stephens, 2014), practicing empathy (Chung et al., 2013), and integrating neighborhoods and public settings to create a mixed-class environment (McCormick et al., 2012) would reduce the stigma of low-income individuals. As the public is exposed to topics that affect these communities, while also becoming more integrated into this community, this will increase the

likelihood of empathetic responses towards L-SES individuals, and allow them to have increased access to opportunities for success.

McCormick and colleagues (2012) studied those in public housing, and how they experience stigma for accepting government subsidies. It is suggested by the researchers that those relying on social welfare programs are stigmatized for two main reasons: being seen as low prospects due to relying on taxpayer funded programs, and through the physical separation between low income and higher income communities. The physical and social space allows for animosity to grow through "micro-interactions", in which higher class individuals have very brief interactions with L-SES individuals, and overgeneralize their experience to be an overarching truth of the entire community without considering their input within the conversation. Because of this, a strong "us vs. them" mentality forms between both communities, and expands the already existing social and cultural divide. However, when the housing options became more mixed income, the communities were likely to interact more positively on a daily basis. This is because routine exposure to a stigmatized group tends to make their stigmatized trait(s) more widely accepted in their new community. As one surrounds themself with class diversity, they are less likely to stigmatize another based on social class.

Zhiyong (2010) expands on this by stating that welfare stigma and optimal tax theory are driven by our inherent need toward personal agency. In this study, Zhiyong suggested that societal stigma of low-income individuals played a significant role in how much participants were willing to "give" in taxes in their experimental setting. Participants tended to want to give less money to social welfare programs at the beginning of the study, arguing from the standpoint of stereotypical views of laziness and lack of accountability. However, once they were informed on wealth disparity and how limited social welfare programs are due to lack of funding,

participants began to feel more empathy for L-SES individuals who were still financially struggling despite having access to welfare. The results suggest that deep understanding from the public in regard to L-SES issues positively affects public policy that impacts both stigma reduction and welfare funding.

What is the Foundation for Acceptance and Equity for Low Income Adolescents?

Acceptance and equity are terms with nuance in regard to class stigma, as both of these terms would require the abolition of stigma toward the marginalized group at hand. However, the foundation that would allow for stigma reduction rely on redistribution and reallocation of resources (Zhiyong, 2010), increase in empathy for L-SES individuals societally (Chung et al., 2013), and increased effort to provide opportunities for L-SES adolescents that are available to the middle or upper class (Friedman et al., 2000).

Financial resource distribution is simultaneously a moderator and an outcome variable between acceptance and class stigma, as financial resources allow L-SES individuals to care for their needs and provide vital resources to themselves and their families, and financial resource distribution (especially regarding taxpayer-funded social welfare programs) often does not occur without social support (Zhiyong, 2010). The reallocation of funds is frequently followed by public education, and overwhelming public support, if not funded privately by an individual or group. However, when vital resources are reallocated to a stigmatized group, it tends to reduce the stigma associated with that group and increase their chances of social mobility (Zhiyong, 2010; Friedman et al., 2000).

While increased empathy frequently occurs prior to financial resource distribution, it also tends to expand further after the public is able to appreciate the impact of their decision to redistribute financial resources (Zhiyong, 2010; Chung et al., 2013). According to Chung and colleagues (2013), this effect is initially felt through developing the skill of perspective taking. When participants in higher power, less stigmatized positions were able to understand the motive, decisions and situation the highly stigmatized target person was in, they were more likely to feel a strong sense of empathy toward the target person. The high external validity of this study suggests that perspective taking can be generalized to many marginalized groups, and that if individuals in higher power positions were to practice this skill in regard to those in stigmatized groups, that public empathy for those stigmatized individuals would increase.

Equity requires greater acceptance and minimal, if not nullified stigma (Jarrett, 1996). This is because equity is an expansion of equality that intends to atone previous societal negligence. Providing equal opportunities for L-SES individuals after providing necessary resources and increasing societal empathy toward L-SES environments is fundamental in creating an accepting and equitable environment for L-SES adolescents to develop in. Friedman and colleagues (2000) studied the impact of providing educational, occupational, and childcare resources to families that meet the income requirements of Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF). This study concluded that after the participants utilized the resources provided, social mobility significantly increased (p < .05).

How do we Support Individual Empowerment?

According to Jennings and colleagues (2006), youth empowerment consists of regaining control in "social, economic, and political contexts", so that they can personally create a more equitable environment for them to reside in. This can translate to youth-led programs, and/or engaging in community action, but however adolescent empowerment manifests, the outcomes

of these experiences are increased autonomy, competence, and optimism, which are beneficial in individual empowerment for marginalized teens (Bulanda, 2015). Some important factors that can support L-SES empowerment specifically are encouraging self-confidence through teaching that their voice matters (Bulanda & Johnson, 2015), informing L-SES adolescents that they are not failures, but that the system was unfortunately not designed to truly support them (Pinkerton & Dolan, 2007), and educating them on what control they do have within the system and over themselves (Northington, 2018).

According to Bulanda and Johnson (2015), adult allyship in regard to youth empowerment can easily turn into a relationship in which there is a hierarchical power structure, not allowing the adolescent to freely form their own decisions. This can be troublesome, as youth-led programs are impactful through adolescents' ability to use newfound freedom as a form of self-exploration, autonomy, and empowerment. Community organizations specifically mentioned by Bulanda and Johnson (2015) focused on providing L-SES adolescents a voice of their own through activities and responsibilities designed to provide support through compassion rather than punitive measures. The results of providing L-SES adolescents with responsibilities within their community through outreach programs was a higher rate of identity exploration, lower risk of distal behavior (teen pregnancy, truancy, substance abuse), perspective taking through social bonding, and a sense of purpose. All of these skills are important as L-SES adolescents prepare for young adulthood, as higher education and the workforce both require some form of introspection and self-competence. Providing these resources to L-SES adolescents better prepares them for adulthood by empowering them through their own success.

Connecting the family unit to an adolescent's perseverance through structural obstacles is also important, as the teen brings their life experience as reference (Pinkerton & Dolan, 2007).

The "whole child/whole system" perspective supported by Pinkerton and Dolan (2007) recognizes how integrating the primary systems that influence the child's life, such as peer, familial, and academic influences, all contribute to who they are as a whole. Their whole is not defined by the systemic barriers placed before them, however, recognizing that this system is not designed for them to overcome class-related obstacles easily will help them cope with the restriction they may feel in regard to their achievements so far. According to Pinkerton and Dolan (2007), family support through the "whole child/whole system" model will help to build resiliency and the understanding that institutional hurdles do not discount a considerable effort to succeed.

Resiliency continues to develop in adolescence as they focus on what they can control, and act, rather than focusing on what is out of their control (Northington, 2018). Northington (2018) studied a group of disadvantaged teen girls in an art group, and focused on how building positive relationships with peers while simultaneously developing new skills boost the self-esteem of adolescents and provided pathways toward developing leadership skills. Through providing a network of peers and adult mentors, L-SES adolescents are able to connect with others who have similar lived experiences, and be given positive affirmation from the adults running the program. L-SES adolescents are not only able to voice their concerns with the structural barriers placed before them, but are also able to turn their voice into a peer support system, newfound social skills, mentorship, and the self-confidence needed to transform resistance into resilience.

What Institutional Barriers Prevent Success in Breaking the Cycle of Poverty?

Many institutional barriers have the capacity to prevent social mobility and the breaking of the cycle of poverty, but some of the institutional barriers that impact L-SES adolescents are academic (Stephens, 2012; Stephens, 2014), occupational (Friedman et al., 2000; Krywosa & Educational Resources Information Center, 2008), and cultural (Waxman, 1977).

Collegiate academia relies on the previous success of students throughout their academic careers without truly understanding the barriers that L-SES students face. According to Stephens (2012), some of these barriers are routine access to quality food, a clean and quiet environment to study and do homework in, and limited familial and/or occupational responsibility outside of school. Unfortunately, this is not always the case for many students in low-income communities, as their families may rely on them for help in regard to caregiving, financial help from a part time job, and/or other pertinent household responsibilities. This means that L-SES adolescents are more likely to have less time to focus predominantly on their academic success (Stephens, 2012). Their prioritization of familial matters over academics is in no means a reflection of their intelligence, but the institutional barriers for academic success will likely interpret their grades in this way (Stephens, 2014). It is known that most, if not all, colleges and universities have a GPA minimum for applicants, which can be a barrier L-SES students face before enrolling in a college course. However, a more pressing barrier that prevents L-SES adolescents from reaching a higher level of educational attainment is the cost of tuition (Krywosa & Educational Resources Information Center, 2008). Because tuition costs require even the middle-class students to rely on FAFSA to afford tuition, it is increasingly difficult for L-SES adolescents to legitimize potentially losing years of full-time employment to support their immediate family, while simultaneously taking on debt (Krywosa & Educational Resources Information Center, 2008).

Jobs training programs have simultaneously been out of reach for many low-income communities for some of the same reasons as academia has been. Because many trades schools require a tuition, involving one to reduce or eliminate work hours outside of the training program while simultaneously taking on debt, it is increasingly unattainable for L-SES adolescents to seek employment in a unionized career (Krywosa & Educational Resources Information Center, 2008). It is also important to mention that the Financial Aid program that supports American students who are seeking a college education does not cover, nor have an equivalent, for an individual who decides to go to a trade school (Krywosa & Educational Resources Information Center, 2008). Occupational barriers, however, are not only financial, but social as well. This is because successful job searching often relies on social networking with financially successful individuals who have connections to successful others looking to employ. Many L-SES adolescents cannot build these connections, as low-income communities rarely have access to these types of resources (Krywosa & Educational Resources Information Center, 2008).

Although low-income communities are more collectivistic and rely on each other for vital resources, cultural aspects of higher social classes present institutional barriers to L-SES adolescents preparing to begin adulthood. According to Guillory (1993), cultural capital is the ability to understand and comply with certain spoken and unspoken norms that signal inclusion in a certain group. An example of this would be fine dining etiquette at networking events, which would likely not be taught to L-SES individuals, as they likely would never have a reason to acquire this knowledge. Because of this, L-SES adolescents and young adults in these settings would stand out in an unflattering way (Guillory, 1993). This is to no fault of low-income individuals, but rather a system that relies on nuanced cultural norms of the upper class that inadvertently discriminates against those who were not raised in this setting (Guillory, 1993).

Cultural barriers become institutionalized in other settings where occupation is not of importance, such as social interactions (Guillory, 1993). The negative impact that cultural barriers have in these settings are important to recognize, as cultural capital is associated with social mobility (Guillory, 1993). Without acknowledging and actively changing cultural boundaries to social mobility, L-SES adolescents will continue to be at the disadvantage in regard to breaking the cycle of poverty.

What are the Strategies we can Use to Reduce Public Stigma?

There are many strategies that could be beneficial in reducing public stigma, but the most researched concepts are public education, advocacy for the stigmatized group, & integration of stigmatized individuals or groups into "main society" (Heijnders & Van Der Meij, 2006). I will preface by stating that there is very limited research in regard to how these strategies would specifically impact L-SES adolescents. However, considering the high external validity of each of these concepts, it can be hypothesized that these interventions could also reduce public stigma of L-SES adolescents.

The job of public education in regard to stigma reduction is to counteract the negative stereotypes and prejudice that is felt generally by one's society. According to Heijnders and Van Der Meij (2006), public education is seen as the first step toward stigma reduction because of its ability to increase the general knowledge base surrounding the stigmatized group at hand. Public education can occur in many forms, but is most commonly seen through the targeting of specific populations within a society to receive the message, and utilizing methods such as presentations and discussions to deliver the message. Public education strives to inform those with a bias toward another group that many of the claims they utilize as justification for their biases are

based in false narratives (Heijnders & Van Der Meij, 2006). This step is an important foundation for further steps toward stigma reduction, but can be difficult and have mixed results alone. Many who have strong biases are resistant to changing their beliefs and worldviews based entirely on public education. It is only with assistance from other public interventions in which the benefit of each intervention can be recognized (Heijnders & Van Der Meij, 2006).

Advocacy inherently focuses on applying the message taught to policy change on a state or federal level, and providing support systems for stigmatized communities. According to Heijnders & Van Der Meij (2006), the combination of public and governmental change in attitude helps stigmatized individuals to receive resources that were previously unavailable to them due to discrimination. Steps such as presenting protective laws which would later become public policy, and oversight committees to ensure that the protective laws in place are being practiced with due diligence are some of the most common ways advocacy is practiced in reduction of public stigma. Without education, this step in reducing public stigma would not be possible, as it is the foundation on which advocacy stands. In order for advocacy to be successful, public education must coincide and routinely remind the public about the unfair and arbitrary power dynamic between groups. Advocacy runs the risk of being viewed as being too "bureaucratic" and developing a negative public image without the general public's knowledge of why these specific steps are being put in place (Heijnders & Van Der Meij, 2006). Advocacy focuses on transforming education and public support into support from those in positions of high enough power to enact change. This is important because much of the experience of stigma is defined by the distinct power dynamic between the stigmatized and the stigmatizers (Knowles et al., 2014).

Integration of the stigmatized group with non-stigmatized groups serves the function of allowing public education and advocacy work to be practiced on a daily basis. It is in these integrated settings, where various social classes share the same community, individuals of higher class will be more likely to interact with lower class individuals and be compelled to address their implicit biases (McCormick et al., 2012). According to Heijnders and Van Der Meij (2006), contact with stigmatized groups allows the non-stigmatized individuals to develop a schema that addresses the diversity within a group, rather than relying on a stereotype far too broad to encompass any group of people. When McCormick and colleagues (2012) ran a study following a class-integrated community, they discovered that the social and cultural divide began to diminish as the physical divide between social classes became smaller. This is presumed to be because the "micro-interactions" relied on by the upper classes prior to community integration have become merely one of many interactions they have experienced with L-SES individuals. They learned that L-SES individuals, like themselves, are multifaceted people who also cannot be defined solely by their income or means (McCormick et al., 2012). This allows for H-SES individuals to focus on commonalities rather than an "us vs. them" mentality exclusively.

Do Anti-Stigma Campaigns Work for Classism?

Using evidence from Thornicroft and colleagues (2014), it is shown that broadly, antistigma campaigns are a success. However, an anti-stigma campaign of large enough scale in regard to classism has yet to be studied by social psychologists. Until then, we can make a hypothesis about efficacy through recognizing the high external validity of studies addressing anti-stigma campaigns as a whole (Thornicroft et al., 2014).

Thornicroft and colleagues (2014) studied the efficacy of anti-stigma campaigns by following the "Like Mind Like Mine" campaign against mental illness discrimination. This study focused on unfair treatment based on the presence of mental health symptoms, and the desire to conceal mental illness. This anti-stigma campaign utilized methods, such as policy initiatives, advertisements in multiple forms of media (news articles, television, etc.), and celebrity endorsements (Thornicroft et al., 2014). The majority of the 1135 participants (69%) claimed that the anti-stigma campaign either moderately or significantly reduced the amount of stigmatized interactions they experienced. The result of this was an increase in employment, and public social interactions between those with mental illness and those without mental illness. Because this study has high external validity, it can be hypothesized that an anti-stigma campaign of this style has the potential to be significantly effective in reducing class stigma (Thornicroft et al., 2014). L-SES adolescents, like those with a mental illness, are stigmatized through acts of prejudice and discrimination, which lead to less future prospects. Although the traits of social class and mental health are vastly different from each other, the impact of stigmatization is felt for both groups in ways that damage existing relationships with others, and inhibit the building of future relationships or social interactions (Thornicroft et al., 2014).

What is Welfare Reform?

According to Morgen and colleagues (2009), welfare is a public policy intending to redistribute funds to help those in poverty. All social welfare programs designed to help those in poverty, such as SNAP, TANF, and rental assistance, have an income maximum which if exceeded, means the loss of all benefits (Jarrett, 1996). This system can be precarious because according to the U.S. Census Bureau (2017), the financial measures to determine one's poverty

level, such as cost of living ratios, have not been adjusted since 1963. Adjustments for inflation have been made, but how cost of living and wage stagnation have impacted the working class has not been addressed by social welfare programs (U.S. Census Bureau, 2017). This directly impacts the lives of working-class families who rely on these programs. According to Jarrett (1996), who interviewed Black women using SNAP benefits (food stamps), discovered that many women relying on these benefits have refused or turned down raises or increased hours because the extra income that would come along with this would simultaneously cut her benefits, while also not being enough to reduce the need for SNAP. Welfare reform will require the social redistribution of wealth to the poor that provides resources such as food benefits, housing, and medical care, in a way that better benefits the working class (Jarrett, 1996).

Morgen and colleagues (2009) suggested a method that would increase the maximum family income to reflect increasing cost of living and current wage stagnation, while also suggesting a "phase out" method. This means that instead of cutting all benefits once an individual's monthly income goes \$1 or more over the maximum income, the benefits instead are gradually reduced. This would allow L-SES communities more opportunity to create more family income without the fear of losing their housing, food, or medical insurance. If this were to be enacted, it would involve a gradual decrease in the percentage of benefits based on the percentage of monthly income one has over the full benefit threshold. This would be similar to what we witnessed with the March and December 2020 stimulus check, in which individuals making under \$75,000 annually received the full benefit, but those making between \$75,001-150,000 annually would receive a portion of the stimulus check, with those making \$125,000 annually receiving half of the benefits (Mengle, 2020). The result of this would likely be that over half of individuals in the working class and/or experiencing poverty who are currently

unable to provide all the vital resources necessary for themselves and their families would be able to cover all of their basic needs (Morgen et al., 2009). This would allow L-SES adolescents more opportunities to focus on their academic and social development, as it would free them of much of the financial burden that low-income communities routinely face (Stephens, 2014).

Berkobien (2002) specified how this impacts Oregonians by addressing the state's legislative body in regard to the working requirements of programs such as Temporary Assistance to Needy Families (TANF). In order to meet the requirements for this program, the federal government requires at least one parent to work full-time (Berkobien, 2002). Understandably, this can cause issues when addressing single parent families or job loss. According to Berkobien (2002), welfare reform would require a grace period for job loss, an understanding of childcare responsibilities, and an understanding of academic requirements for the parent(s) in each individual household. Although an L-SES adolescent can work part-time while in school, many of which do, this income cannot be recorded for hours worked by the family unit per week, but their income can be used to cut benefits if their income combined with the parent(s) exceeded the maximum monthly income (Berkobien, 2002; Lerman et al., 2000). Welfare reform, both statewide and federally, would ensure that L-SES adolescents' jobs can be used as a way to help their families receive benefits, rather than only being counted in regard to monthly family income when their income brings the family's reported earnings at or above the threshold for benefit recipiency.

How do Social Welfare Programs Help Low-Income Adolescents' Social Development?

Social welfare programs are responsible for providing vital resources to those who otherwise could not afford them (Brooks et al., 2001). Having access to these resources as an L-

SES adolescent would be beneficial, as it would afford them and their family the ability to utilize their income to pay for other pertinent needs (Gennetian et al., 2002). Being able to trust that needs such as housing, food, and medical care are attended to grants the family decreasing financial burden and increasing financial freedom (Gennetian et al., 2002). The adolescent is then able to focus on their social development, which in turn helps to close the achievement gap through increased ability to take on leadership roles, both in their household and throughout their social spheres, as well as being a role-model to younger peers and/or siblings (Brooks et al., 2001).

Brooks and colleagues (2001) study the impact of the 1996 welfare reform laws and how these positively benefited L-SES adolescents. They determined that through increased access to programs, such as TANF, families were able to redefine family system roles with their adolescent children. This allowed L-SES adolescents to experience and experiment with increased autonomy, which led to an increase in identity exploration behaviors. Although L-SES adolescents practiced agency more once their family was receiving reliable welfare benefits, parents also reported more assistance in household chores for late adolescents (ages 15-18). This is explained as adolescents adopting an adult-like role in the family unit as the desire to take on greater personal responsibility is reinforced by increasing maturity. Many of these responsibilities include assistance in childcare for younger siblings, cooking/cleaning, or obtaining a part time job outside of school. All of these provide the L-SES adolescent with social development through the installation of positive values regarding increasing responsibility that can be transferred to higher education and/or the workforce.

Gennetian and colleagues (2002) study the impact of the 1996 welfare reform act as well, but through a separate lens of potential hindrance to development. The change in requirements

for TANF required eligible families to meet a weekly work hour minimum of 30 hours a week per single parent household, or 35-55 hours per week for dual parent households, while putting a timeline on the access to benefits. Although these benefits allowed access to cash assistance and employment programs for L-SES families, the change in the policy added a 5-year lifetime limitation, meaning that after the 5 years are up (including if you used the 5 years of benefits sporadically across the lifespan), there would no longer be financial or benefit assistance that could be given to the family through this program. Many of the changes to this law were intended to reward dual parent households and discourage an increase in single-parent households. The consequence of this is that households with L-SES adolescents quickly needed to take on more responsibilities around the house, often while working part-time and being in school. This led to an increase in delinquency for teens who felt "burnt out" from splitting time academically, socially, and occupationally, while also taking on increased household responsibilities. These teens, who have taken on more adult responsibilities than their schedule reasonably allows were more likely to drink, smoke, and have unprotected sex. Gennetian and colleagues (2002) suggest that this is because social development in adolescence is defined by identity exploration and voluntarily taking on larger responsibilities rather than mandatory, excessive responsibility in exchange for welfare benefits. This effect is not because of the access to the financial resources this program provides.

How do Social Welfare Programs Increase Educational Opportunities?

One of the main reasons educational attainment is difficult for low-income communities is because of the financial barriers faced in regard to higher education (Krywosa & Educational Resources Information Center, 2008). Institutional barriers such as tuition, a lack of funding in

low-income communities' public schooling, and limited access to high quality food for children all have a role in hindering educational attainment for L-SES adolescents. Without the help of programs such as FAFSA, the National School Lunch Program (NSLP), and federal aid to the public-school systems in low-income communities, educational opportunities would be extremely limited for L-SES individuals.

According to Krywosa and Educational Resources Information Center (2008), financial aid to L-SES adolescents through programs such as work-study and the Pell Grant contribute significantly to their ability to accept college admissions. The Pell Grant is responsible for providing sizable tuition deductions that do not have to be paid back, which is granted based on a family income threshold. Those in working class or low-income families are eligible for the full benefit. With the assistance of scholarships from the university and low interest loans from the FAFSA program, late L-SES adolescents (ages 15-18) can realistically plan for bridging the gap of educational attainment in their family by becoming the first-generation college graduate. This is important because college graduates are more likely to be financially stable than those whose highest level of academic completion was high school or high school equivalent (GED program completion). Although student loans have the capacity to increase stress and the degree of financial success post-graduation, the combination of these programs with academic and financial-based scholarships allow for L-SES adolescents to graduate with significantly less debt than those who do not meet the income threshold for assistance.

The National School Lunch Program provides school-aged children (K-12) with access to high quality food for breakfast and lunch 5 days a week for approximately 9 months a year, which both gives the students nutritious meals to ensure they are nourished before they learn, and gives the parents increased financial stability, as meals are a significant cost in L-SES

households (Bhatia et al., 2011). Although barriers to participation in the NSLP include enrollment and outreach, limited menu options, student preferences, lunch service capacity, and open campuses, a significant obstacle to those who qualified, but did not receive free or reduced lunch was stigma. This is because for many states, the NSLP meals are distinct from the meals that school children who pay full price for their meals get. This draws undue attention to L-SES students, and can often lead to bullying or social isolation for the student eating an NSLP meal. However, a pilot intervention conducted in San Francisco discovered that once the NSLP included all lunch options instead of a select few for only NSLP students, the rates of participation increased up to 154%, at the 3 sites used in this study. If this method for NSLP lunches were conducted federally, every school could practically ensure that their students are eating at least 2 meals a day that have high nutritional value. This will allow students to focus on their academic work instead of being distracted by their hunger.

Closing the academic achievement gap between social classes, however, involves federal aid to the schools in low-income communities that allow for updating infrastructure, class materials, and class options (Burnett & Educational Resources Information Center, 1995).

According to Burnett and the Educational Resource Information Center (1995), urban schools in low-income neighborhoods are disproportionately overcrowded and underfunded. This creates an alarming student to teacher ratio of 40+ students to one teacher, and results in the lack of extracurriculars or elective classes for L-SES adolescents to choose from on their high school campuses. Students in these types of school environments are significantly more likely to score lower than the national average on standardized math and language tests, which give light on the academic achievement of the students, and in turn lead to increasingly tightening budgets. Those with higher scores on these standardized tests in turn receive more funding, when in reality, the

schools that need most funding are the ones that receive the lower scores. When low-income students benefit from the federal aid proportioned via standardized testing scores, the achievement gap begins to close. When a pilot study gave aid to classroom settings with lower scores, they were able to redistribute the funds in order to relocate administrative spaces and turn those spaces into classrooms, thus reducing the overcrowding per class. These changes in the classroom settings allowed students to aim more attention into their coursework, resulting in higher standardized test scores the following year. This study concluded with a "student space 'Bill of Rights'", which addressed overcrowding in all urban and low-income schools, and requested for federal aid to public schools be redistributed more fairly across the nation. It is with these changes in financial federal aid where low-income schools can be reformed and L-SES adolescents can begin to close the achievement gap.

How Would Redistributing Governmental Funds to Social Welfare Programs Increase Prosperity for Low Income Families?

Supporting the redistribution of government funding would allow for more egalitarian utilization of taxpayer funding. According to Gitterman (2009), the percentage of the federal budget that is reserved for social welfare programs have been decreasing since approximately 1968. Changing this would benefit the effort in closing the wage and achievement gap, aid in diminishing wealth disparities, and allow L-SES adolescents to finish child development in more opportune circumstances.

According to Vianna and Stetsenko (2011), there is a significant link between identity development and learning that is mediated by minority group membership. This case study specifically focuses on the impact of child welfare for L-SES adolescents whose group home had

participated in a collaborative program teaching welfare reformation. The participants were followed by monitoring the academic performance, extracurricular activities, and resulting level of achievement in young adulthood. Due to access to welfare benefits, and participation in a government-funded transformative activist project to reform the current welfare system, the participants were able to utilize this experience to attend prestigious universities on scholarships, with some participants continuing on to become prosecutors in the welfare system fighting for reformation. Without access to this program, these L-SES adolescents would not have had the opportunities of higher education or their current successful career paths. However, it was only at the intersection between personal experience and learning where a rise in prosperity was recorded. The participants in the program reported a higher sense of purpose, and a significantly reduced rate of behavioral issues in their group home. This effect lasted beyond the length of the program, and followed the participants through their adulthood. It is important to fund extracurricular programs that are engaging to a wide range of L-SES adolescents in order to provide opportunities for identity exploration, and the potential to utilize transformative activism by pursuing higher education and subsequently breaking the cycle of poverty.

Stephens and colleagues (2014) studied the impact of academic achievement in L-SES adolescents, but did so through the lens of the social class achievement gap and ease of college transition. This study followed a demographically diverse group of prospective first-generation college students throughout the course of both high school and college. The focus of the study specifically was to determine the efficacy of teaching a framework based on the importance of diversity. The intended effect of this is an ease in college transition, as first-generation college-students are disproportionately L-SES, and later success in the career of their choosing. Social mobility is the ideal outcome for these students. To determine their rate of social mobility in

adolescents, the researchers monitored the sense of belonging felt by each individual, their overall GPA's, and the continuity between college and career path. The results determined that those who received and retained the information given by the diversity framework group were significantly more likely to succeed into and throughout college (p < .05). This, in turn, led to a higher rate of job offerings and job acceptance for this group than the control L-SES group who received no diversity framework teachings. Teaching first-generation students who are intending to break the cycle of poverty that students with their background matter and offer great value can be beneficial for their success into and throughout adulthood.

What Could the Creation of New Social Programs Do for the Working Class?

In conjunction with welfare reformation and the redistribution of government funding to social welfare programs, creating new social programs that address areas current welfare programs are lacking could be quite beneficial to L-SES families, while potentially lessening the wealth disparity in the United States. Programs such as the permanent implementation of the child tax credit, and universal healthcare have been mentioned by researchers as having a positive impact on L-SES communities, most of whom would not have access to these resources otherwise (Shaefer et al., 2018; Congress of the U.S., Washington, DC. House Select Committee on Children, Youth, Families, & Educational Resources Information Center, 1990).

Shaefer and colleagues (2018) studied the potential effects of a "universal child allowance", or child tax credit, which would provide L-SES families with a \$1,000 check annually per child and \$4,000 per child in tax exemptions. This proposed wealth redistribution would be a reformation of the child tax credit additions enacted in 2014. This additional \$5,000 annually has the potential to end as much as 69% of child poverty in the United States. Recently,

President Joe Biden addressed the nation regarding a child tax credit increase of this style, but with approximately \$3,600 for families (Lubby, 2021). However, if this plan were to become permanent and last beyond the COVID relief fund, it could effectively end up to 50% of child poverty in the United States. The working class would have greater opportunities for vital resources, investments, and educational attainment through this social program that would not have been available to them otherwise (Shaefer et al., 2018; Lubby, 2021). A permanent implementation of a child tax credit could potentially give the financial resources needed to boost L-SES adolescents into the position of poverty cycle breakers.

Congress of the U.S., Washington, DC. House Select Committee on Children, Youth, Families, & Educational Resources Information Center (1990) suggested the idea of universal healthcare as a form of social welfare that could benefit L-SES families by stating that universal access could not only prevent the development of medical debt, but may also be the solution to the life expectancy gap between social classes. Zimmer and colleagues (2016) mention that there is as much as a 17-year life expectancy gap between H-SES and L-SES individuals due to stress, stigmatization, and lack of access to medical care. If there was no cost or financial burden associated with medical care, citizens would be more likely to use healthcare as a readily available resource whenever necessary (Congress of the U.S., Washington, DC. House Select Committee on Children, Youth, Families, & Educational Resources Information Center, 1990). Currently, the United States medical care system is designed on a basis of profit, and therefore cannot accommodate those who do not have the means to pay exorbitant fees. Similar to the Child Tax Credit reformation, this is a program that every U.S. citizen would benefit from, so sufficient planning and funding to a program of this nature has the potential to increase in

popularity over time and eventually be implemented in the same fashion as any other developed nation.

Summary of Findings and Conclusion

Stigma is associated with harm and hindrance in all domains of an adolescent's development (Zimmer et al., 2016; Reutter et al., 2009; De France & Evans, 2020; Fatima & Sheikh, 2014). Physical, social, emotional, and cognitive development all have the potential to face harm from both class stigma and the specific environmental factors pertaining to class. This is due to the stress responses from class stigma, and the resulting lack of resources, financial and otherwise. As stigma is defined as being the relationship between attribute and stereotype, leading to prejudice and discrimination (Goffman, 1963), it is important to recognize that the lack of resources distributed to this community, whether it be a lack of funds to their public-school systems, lack of access to resources such as food, high-paying jobs, or social connections with other social classes, naturally are impacted by class stigmatization. The impact of being L-SES during adolescence, a developmental phase that is highly influenced by class, simultaneously influences future prospects while containing the greatest potential for the perpetuation of the cycle of poverty (Connor et al., 2021).

The impact of class stigma on L-SES adolescents can be observed in areas such as educational attainment, and career paths in early adulthood (U.S. Census Bureau, 2010) through institutional barriers such as job opportunities and college acceptance/affordability (Reutter et al., 2009; Krywosa & Educational Resource Information Center, 2008). L-SES adolescents are frequently hearing the narrative of inevitable academic failure, without regarding how L-SES adolescents are more likely to assume more familial responsibilities than their H-SES peers (Gitterman, 2009; Stephens, 2012). The disproportionate lack of future prospects given to L-SES adolescents can be altered through providing the resources they need to prosper, but until those

resources are easily accessible, this is a reality for far too many in low-income communities (Vianna and Stetsenko, 2011).

Reducing stigma begins with changing public opinion. There are many avenues in which this can be done, but some of the most common methods include integrating social classes to reduce the physical distance between H-SES and L-SES individuals, public education on issues specifically pertaining to low income communities, subsequent reformation of welfare laws, and the redistribution of funding for public school systems so that L-SES adolescents are given opportunities to learn about topics that interest them and inspire passion (Vianna and Stetsenko, 2011; Stephens et al., 2014). According to Stephens (2012), public schools in low-income neighborhoods are disproportionately underfunded, which results in L-SES adolescents having less access to educational resources such as textbooks with up-to-date information, extracurricular activities/clubs, and elective courses, as well as a lack of functional resources such as safe school buildings. Future research focuses on the redistribution of funds to low-income neighborhoods, predominantly involving welfare reformation and jobs programs, however, it also suggests ideas for potential programs that have yet to be implemented (Jones et al., 2018).

Future Research

Researchers have broadly determined how an equitable future can be ensured for L-SES adolescents, however, there is limited research on how to implement these topics into political discourse. Because many of the issues pertaining to low-income communities are largely systemic, they will likely require a political body to change legislation in order to ensure the redistribution of funds and resources is fully pursued (Gitterman, 2009). Ideas such as the

integration of social classes for developing neighborhoods would benefit L-SES individuals, as increased socialization is one of the first steps toward public education for this stigmatized community (Heijnders & Van Der Meij, 2006; McCormick et al., 2012). Providing other resources, such as altering restrictive barriers to welfare benefits, would provide L-SES families with the resources to support their adolescents (Berkobien, 2002; Lerman et al., 2000). This can either be through allowing their teen to make academic achievement a main priority, or by providing the financial boost needed to increase generational social mobility (Lerman et al., 2000). A welfare reformation suggested by Congress in 1990 mentioned how changing the amount of fund redistribution, and way in which funds are redistributed for the Child Tax Credit, has the potential to bring a significant majority of families with children above the poverty threshold (Congress of the U.S., Washington, DC. House Select Committee on Children, Youth, Families, & Educational Resources Information Center, 1990). As of April of 2021, President Joe Biden has implemented a child tax credit, which is intended to remain permanent (Lubby, 2021). Research on stigma reduction and prosperity for L-SES children would be greatly benefitted by the potential permanent implementation of this program.

Our first priority as a nation, in regard to human services, should be providing an equitable environment for all children from infancy to late adolescence. Investing in the future generations to provide opportunities for prosperity is not only important for their development, but is the most humane and equitable service we can provide.

References

- Abramovitz, Mimi. (2006). Welfare Reform in the United States: gender, race and class matter.

 *Critical Social Policy, 26(2), 336–364. https://doi.org/10.1177/0261018306062589
- Anda, Robert F, Croft, Janet B, Felitti, Vincent J, Nordenberg, Dale, Giles, Wayne H, Williamson, David F, & Giovino, Gary A. (1999). Adverse Childhood Experiences and Smoking During Adolescence and Adulthood. *JAMA*: The Journal of the American Medical Association, 282(17), 1652–1658. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.282.17.1652
- Anderson, C., Kraus, M. W., Galinsky, A. D., & Keltner, D. (2012). The local-ladder effect: social status and subjective well-being. *Psychological science*, *23*(7), 764–771. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797611434537
- Aurand, A., PH.D., MSW, Emmanuel, D., MSW, Threet, D., PH.D., Rafi, I., & Yentel, D., MSSW. (2020). Out of Reach 2020. Retrieved from https://reports.nlihc.org/sites/default/files/oor/OOR_BOOK_2020.pdf
- Banerjee, A., Benabou, Roland, & Mookherjee, Dilip. (2006). *Understanding poverty*. Oxford;

 New York: Oxford University Press
- Baron, R. M., Albright, L., & Malloy, T. E. (1995). Effects of Behavioral and Social Class
 Information on Social Judgment. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 21(4), 308–315. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167295214001
- Brooks, J. L., Hair, Elizabeth C., Zaslow, Martha J., Educational Resources Information

 Center, & Child Trends, Inc., Washington, DC. (2001). Welfare Reform's Impact on

 Adolescents Early Warning Signs. Child Trends Research Brief. Distributed by ERIC

 Clearinghouse.

- Bulanda, J. (2015). A trauma-informed model for empowerment programs targeting vulnerable youth. *Child & Adolescent Social Work Journal : C & A.*, 33(4), 303–312. https://doi.org/info:doi/
- Chung, Adrienne H, & Slater, Michael D. (2013). Reducing Stigma and Out-Group Distinctions

 Through Perspective-Taking in Narratives. *Journal of Communication*, 63(5), 894–911.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/jcom.12050
- Connor P, Varney J, Keltner D, Chen S. Social Class Competence Stereotypes Are Amplified by Socially Signaled Economic Inequality. *Pers Soc Psychol Bull*. 2021;47(1):89-105. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167220916640
- Congress of the U.S., Washington, DC. House Select Committee on Children, Youth, Families,
 & Educational Resources Information Center. (1990). The Changing Face of Health Care
 The Movement toward Universal Access. Hearing before the Select Committee on
 Children, Youth, and Families. House of Representatives, One Hundred First Congress,
 First Session (New Haven, CT, December 11, 1989). Distributed by ERIC Clearinghouse.
- Cooper, D. (2016, July 25). The federal minimum wage has been eroded by decades of inaction.

 Economic Policy Institute, 1-3. https://www.epi.org/publication/the-federal-minimum-wage-has-been-eroded-by-decades-of-inaction/
- Côté, S., Kraus, M. W., Cheng, B. H., Oveis, C., van der Löwe, I., Lian, H., & Keltner, D.
 (2011). Social power facilitates the effect of prosocial orientation on empathic accuracy.
 Journal of personality and social psychology, 101(2), 217–232.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023171
- Crandall, Christian S, & Eshleman, Amy. (2003). A Justification-Suppression Model of the

- Expression and Experience of Prejudice. *Psychological Bulletin*, *129*(3), 414–446. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.129.3.414
- Dearing, Eric. (2008). Psychological Costs of Growing Up Poor. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1136(1), 324–332. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1425.006
- De France, K., & Evans, G. W. (2020). Expanding context in the role of emotion regulation in mental health: How socioeconomic status (SES) and developmental stage matter.

 Emotion. Advanced Online Publication.

 http://dx.doi.org.proxy.lib.pdx.edu/10.1037/emo0000743
- Duckworth, Angela Lee, & Quinn, Patrick D. (2009). Development and Validation of the Short Grit Scale (Grit-S). *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 91(2), 166–174. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223890802634290
- Falk, G. (2014). *The German Jews in America : a minority within a minority*. University Press of America.
- Fatima, Shameem, & Sheikh, Hamid. (2014). Socioeconomic Status and Adolescent

 Aggression: The Role of Executive Functioning as a Mediator. *The American Journal of Psychology*, 127(4), 419–430. https://doi.org/10.5406/amerjpsyc.127.4.0419
- Fein, Steven, & Spencer, Steven J. (1997). Prejudice as Self-Image Maintenance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 73(1), 31–44. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.73.1.31
- Flaherty, Emalee G, Thompson, Richard, Dubowitz, Howard, Harvey, Elizabeth M, English, Diana J, Proctor, Laura J, & Runyan, Desmond K. (2013). Adverse Childhood Experiences and Child Health in Early Adolescence. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 167(7), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2013.22
- Foladare, Irving S. (1969). A Clarification of "Ascribed Status" and "Achieved Status"

Sociological Quarterly, 10(1), 53–61. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1533-8525.1969.tb02061.x

- Friedman, P., Educational Resources Information Center, & Welfare Information Network,
 Washington, DC. (2000). *Career Opportunities and Support Services for Low-Income,*Post-High School Young Adults. S.l.]: Distributed by ERIC Clearinghouse.
- FRONTLINE PBS, Official. (2020). Growing Up Poor In America (full film) | FRONTLINE [YouTube Video]. In *YouTube*.

 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qAxQltlGodA&feature=youtu.be
- Fuller-Rowell, Thomas E, Evans, Gary W, Paul, Elise, & Curtis, David S. (2015). The Role of Poverty and Chaos in the Development of Task Persistence Among Adolescents. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 25(4), 606–613. https://doi.org/10.1111/jora.12157
- Gardner, Rachael, Feely, Allison, Layte, Richard, Williams, James, & McGavock, Jonathan. (2019). Adverse childhood experiences are associated with an increased risk of obesity in early adolescence: a population-based prospective cohort study. *Pediatric Research*, 86(4), 522–528. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41390-019-0414-8
- Garmezy, Norman. (1991). Resiliency and Vulnerability to Adverse Developmental Outcomes

 Associated With Poverty. *The American Behavioral Scientist (Beverly Hills)*, *34*(4), 416–430. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764291034004003
- Gennetian, L. A., Duncan, Greg J., Knox, Virginia W., Vargas, Wanda G., Clark-Kauffman, Elizabeth, London, Andrew S., Educational Resources Information Center, & Manpower Demonstration Research Corp., New York, NY. (2002). *How Welfare and Work Policies for Parents Affect Adolescents A Synthesis of Research*. Distributed by ERIC Clearinghouse.

- Gitterman, D. (2009). *Boosting Paychecks The Politics of Supporting America's Working Poor*.

 Washington: Brookings Institution Press.
- Goffman, E. (1963). *Stigma: Notes on the management of spoiled identity* (Spectrum book). Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall.
- Gorski, Paul C. (2016). Poverty and the ideological imperative: a call to unhook from deficit and grit ideology and to strive for structural ideology in teacher education. *Journal of Education for Teaching : JET*, 42(4), 378–386.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/02607476.2016.1215546
- Guillory, J. (1993). *Cultural capital: the problem of literary canon formation*. University of Chicago Press.
- Hansen, H., Bourgois, P., & Drucker, E. (2014). Pathologizing poverty: New forms of diagnosis, disability, and structural stigma under welfare reform. *Social Science & Medicine*, 103, 76-83.
- Heatherton, T. F. (2003). The social psychology of stigma. Guilford Press.
- Holmes, C., Brieant, A., Kahn, R., Deater-Deckard, K., & Kim-Spoon, J. (2019). Structural home environment effects on developmental trajectories of self-control and adolescent risk taking. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 48(1), 43-55. Doi: http://dx.doi.org.proxy.lib.pdx.edu/10.1007/s10964-018-0921-7
- Jacoby, R. (2005). *Picture imperfect : Utopian thought for an anti-Utopian age.*Columbia University Press.
- Jarrett, R. (1996). Welfare Stigma among Low-Income, African American Single Mothers. Family Relations, 45(4), 368-374.
- Jennings, L. B., Parra-Medina, D. M., Messias, D. K. H., & McLoughlin, K. (2006). Toward a

- critical social theory of youth empowerment. In B. N. Checkoway & L. M. Gutierrez (Eds.), *Youth participation and community change* (pp. 31–56). New York: Haworth Press.
- Jones, E. E. (1984). *Social stigma : the psychology of marked relationships*. W.H. Freeman.
- Jones, Deborah J, Loiselle, Raelyn, & Highlander, April. (2018). Parent–Adolescent

 Socialization of Social Class in Low-Income White Families: Theory, Research, and

 Future Directions. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 28(3), 622–636.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/jora.12392
- Jost, J.T. and Banaji, M.R. (1994), The role of stereotyping in system-justification and the production of false consciousness. British Journal of Social Psychology, 33: 1-27. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8309.1994.tb01008.x
- Keum, Brian TaeHyuk, Hill, Clara E, Kivlighan, Dennis M, & Lu, Yun. (2018). Group- and Individual-Level Self-Stigma Reductions in Promoting Psychological Help-Seeking Attitudes Among College Students in Helping Skills Courses. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 65(5), 661–668. https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000283
- Knowles, Eric D., Lowery, Brian S., Chow, Rosalind M., & Unzueta, Miguel M.. (2014). Deny, Distance, or Dismantle? How White Americans Manage a Privileged Identity.

 *Perspectives on Psychological Science, 9(6), 594–609.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691614554658
- Kraus MW, Piff PK, Mendoza-Denton R, Rheinschmidt ML, Keltner D (2012). Social class, solipsism, and contextualism: how the rich are different from the poor. *Psychol Rev*. 119(3): 546-572. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028756

- Kraus, M. W., & Keltner, D. (2013). Social class rank, essentialism, and punitive judgment.

 **Journal of personality and social psychology, 105(2), 247–261.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032895
- Kraus, M. W., & Tan, J. J. X. (2015). Americans overestimate social class mobility. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 58, 101-111.
 http://dx.doi.org.proxy.lib.pdx.edu/10.1016/j.jesp.2015.01.005
- Krywosa, J., & Educational Resources Information Center. (2008). *Achieving College Access*Goals The Relevance of New Media in Reaching First-Generation and Low-Income

 Teens. S.l.]: Distributed by ERIC Clearinghouse
- Kurzban, Robert, & Leary, Mark R. (2001). Evolutionary Origins of Stigmatization.

 *Psychological Bulletin, 127(2), 187–208. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.2.187
- Lacey, Rebecca E, Howe, Laura D, Kelly-Irving, Michelle, Bartley, Mel, & Kelly, Yvonne.

 (2020). The Clustering of Adverse Childhood Experiences in the Avon Longitudinal

 Study of Parents and Children: Are Gender and Poverty Important? *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 088626052093509. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260520935096
- Lerman, R., Educational Resources Information Center, & Urban Institute. (2000). Are Teens in Low-Income and Welfare Families Working Too Much? New Federalism: National Survey of America's Families, Series B, No. B-25. Assessing the New Federalism: An Urban Institute Program To Assess Changing Social Policies. S.1.]: Distributed by ERIC Clearinghouse.
- Link, Bruce G., & Phelan, Jo C. (2001). Conceptualizing Stigma. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 27(1), 363–385. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.27.1.363
- Luhby, T. (2021, March 16). Here's what you need to know about the new stimulus child tax

- *credit*. CNN. https://www.cnn.com/2021/03/15/politics/child-tax-credit-stimulus-relief/index.html.
- Massey, D. S., & Russell Sage Foundation. (2007). *Categorically unequal: the American stratification system*. Russell Sage Foundation.
- McBride Murry, Velma, Berkel, Cady, Gaylord-Harden, Noni K, Copeland-Linder, Nikeea, & Nation, Maury. (2011). Neighborhood Poverty and Adolescent Development. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 21(1), 114–128. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7795.2010.00718.x
- Mengle, Rocky. (2020). Your 2020 Stimulus Check: How Much? When? And Other Questions Answered. *Kiplinger's Personal Finance*.
- Morgen, Sandra, Acker, Joan, & Weigt, Jill. (2009). Stretched Thin. Cornell University Press.
- Northington, Toya. (2018). ArtThrust Teen Empowerment Program: Teaching Youth to Fly Against Resistance. *Social Work with Groups (New York. 1978)*, 41(1-2), 139–150. https://doi.org/10.1080/01609513.2016.1277499
- Oregon Health Authority. Maternal Child Health Section, issuing body. (2013). *Building*resiliency: preventing adverse childhood experiences [ACEs]. Oregon Health Authority,

 Maternal & Child Health Section, Center for Prevention and Health Promotion, Oregon

 Public Health Division.
- Pinkerton J, J. (2007). Family support, social capital, resilience and adolescent coping. *Child & Family Social Work.*, 12(3), 219–228. https://doi.org/info:doi/
- Rasmussen, Line Jee Hartmann, Moffitt, Terrie E, Arseneault, Louise, Danese, Andrea,
 Eugen-Olsen, Jesper, Fisher, Helen L, Harrington, HonaLee, Houts, Renate, Matthews,
 Timothy, Sugden, Karen, Williams, Benjamin, & Caspi, Avshalom. (2019). Association

- of Adverse Experiences and Exposure to Violence in Childhood and Adolescence With Inflammatory Burden in Young People. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 174(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2019.3875
- Reutter, L. I., Stewart, M. J., Veenstra, G., Love, R., Raphael, D., & Makwarimba, E. (2009). "Who do they think we are, anyway?": Perceptions of and responses to poverty stigma. *Qualitative Health Research*, 19(3), 297-311.
- Shaefer, H. Luke, Collyer, Sophie., Duncan, Greg., Edin, Kathryn., Garfinkel, Irwin., Harris,
 David., Smeeding, Timothy M., Waldfogel, Jane., Wimer, Christopher., & Yoshikawa,
 Hirokazu. (2018). A Universal Child Allowance: A Plan to Reduce Poverty and Income
 Instability among Children in the United States. RSF: Russell Sage Foundation Journal
 of the Social Sciences, 4(2), 22–42. https://doi.org/10.7758/rsf.2018.4.2.02
- Shih, Margaret. (2004). Positive Stigma: Examining Resilience and Empowerment in Overcoming Stigma. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 591(1), 175–185. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716203260099
- Stellar, J. E., Manzo, V. M., Kraus, M. W., & Keltner, D. (2012). Class and compassion: socioeconomic factors predict responses to suffering. *Emotion (Washington, D.C.)*, *12*(3), 449–459. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026508
- Stephens, N. M., Fryberg, S. A., Markus, H. R., Johnson, C. S., & Covarrubias, R. (2012).

 Unseen disadvantage: how American universities' focus on independence undermines the academic performance of first-generation college students. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 102(6), 1178.
- Stephens, N. M., Markus, H. R., & Phillips, L. T. (2014). Social class culture cycles: How three

- gateway contexts shape selves and fuel inequality. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 65, 611-634.
- Su, Shaoyong, Wang, Xiaoling, Pollock, Jennifer S, Treiber, Frank A, Xu, Xiaojing, Snieder, Harold, McCall, W. Vaughn, Stefanek, Michael, & Harshfield, Gregory A. (2015).

 Adverse Childhood Experiences and Blood Pressure Trajectories From Childhood to Young Adulthood The Georgia Stress and Heart Study. *Circulation (New York, N.Y.)*, 131(19), 1674–1681. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.013104
- Szreter, S. R. S. (1984). The genesis of the Registrar General's social classification of occupations. British Journal of Sociology, 35, 523–546.
- Thornicroft, Calum, Wyllie, Allan, Thornicroft, Graham, & Mehta, Nisha. (2014). Impact of the "Like Minds, Like Mine" anti-stigma and discrimination campaign in New Zealand on anticipated and experienced discrimination. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 48(4), 360–370. https://doi.org/10.1177/0004867413512687
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2010, March). Observations from the Interagency Technical Working Group on developing a supplemental poverty measure. Washington, DC: Author.
 Retrieved from http://www.census.gov/hhes/www/poverty/SPM_TWGObservations.pdf
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2017). How the U.S. Census Bureau Measures Poverty. Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/visualizations/2017/demo/poverty_measure-how.pdf
- Vianna, Eduardo & Stetsenko, Anna. (2011). Connecting Learning and Identity Development through a Transformative Activist Stance. Human Development, 54(5), 313–338. https://doi.org/10.1159/000331484

- Waxman, C. (1977). *The stigma of poverty : A critique of poverty theories and policies* (Pergamon international library). New York: Pergamon Press.
- Zhiyong An. (2010). Stigma, Optimal Income Taxation, and the Optimal Welfare Program: A Numerical Simulation Approach. *Public Finance Review*, *38*(1), 102–119. https://doi.org/10.1177/1091142109358704
- Zimmer, Z., Hanson, H. A., & Smith, K. R. (2016). Childhood socioeconomic status, adult socioeconomic status, and old-age health trajectories: Connecting early, middle, and late life. *Demographic Research*, *34*, 285-319.

http://dx.doi.org.proxy.lib.pdx.edu/10.4054/DemRes.2016.34.10